# UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

# Title

The Comparative Biology of Avian Thermoregulation at High Temperatures

# Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1vz5m6mm

Author Song, Soorim

Publication Date 2018

**Supplemental Material** <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1vz5m6mm#supplemental</u>

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

# The Comparative Biology of Avian Thermoregulation at High Temperatures

By

# Soorim Song

A dissertation in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

# Doctor of Philosophy

in

Environmental Science, Policy and Management

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in Charge: Professor Steven Beissinger, Chair Professor Robert Dudley Professor Perry de Valpine

Fall 2018

The Comparative Biology of Avian Thermoregulation at High Temperatures

© 2018

By Soorim Song

#### Abstract

#### The Comparative Biology of Avian Thermoregulation at High Temperatures

### By

## Soorim Song

Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science, Policy and Management

University of California, Berkeley

#### Professor Steven Beissinger, Chair

Endotherms, unlike ectotherms, generate metabolic heat to meet their thermoregulatory demands. As homeotherms their body temperature stays within a certain range of body temperature, often higher than the environment. This ability to maintain a biochemically optimal body temperature bestows protection against unfavourable thermal conditions for endotherms. The energetic costs associated with thermoregulatory metabolism and the limits for thermoregulatory capacity will, however, still set a boundary upon the range and duration of conditions that are tolerated by an endotherm. Especially within the context of global climate change, the effect of ahistorically high ambient temperatures on endotherms will depend heavily on the cost the new conditions will impose upon them. Despite various statistical and mechanistic evaluations of endotherm energy metabolism and heat exchange, these costs and limits are poorly known on the interspecific level. In the first chapter, we review and summarise current understanding of endotherm thermal physiology, identify the unresolved questions and examine the conceptual and methodological challenges to a consensus.

The field metabolic rate (FMR) of an endothermic animal represents its energy expenditure in a natural environment, or its energy budget, and the field water flux of an animal reflects the animal's water requirements. In the second chapter, we examined FMR of 97 avian species and field water flux of 76 species for adults from direct field measurements by the doubly-labelled water (DLW) method, and conducted a phylogenetically informed, comprehensive analysis of the relationship between FMR and field wtaer flux, and multiple environmental and biological variables. FMR was strongly associated with body mass with an allometric exponent of 0.6, and seabirds had lower FMR than terrestrial birds. Birds consuming plant matter had lower FMR compared to omnivores, carnivores or nectarivores, and low ambient temperature was associated with higher FMR. Unlike for BMR, there was scarce evidence for phylogenetic covariance in FMR. Life history traits such as fecundity and migration were also not strongly associated with FMR. Field water flux was strongly associated with body mass with an allometric exponent of 0.6, and seabirds, breeding birds and birds from relatively humid habitats had higher field water flux. There was considerable evidence for phylogenetic covariance in exponent of 0.6, and seabirds, breeding birds and birds from relatively humid habitats had higher field water flux.

Endotherms maintain a stable body temperature at high ambient temperatures by continuous dissipation of metabolic heat to the environment. This requires endotherms to maintain a balance between heat dissipation and water conservation at multiple temperatures. Birds are relatively small, contain a large amount of metabolically expensive tissue, and are mostly diurnal. As a result, they are severely affected by physiological challenges. In the third chapter, we compiled

evaporative water loss measurements for birds exposed to different temperatures and examined their relationships with ambient temperature, precipitation, diet and circadian cycles. While evaporative water loss at normothermic conditions was associated with precipitation and water content in diet, ambient temperature in their natural habitat was important when birds were exposed to heat stress. Additionally, the circadian cycle had an effect on water evaporation. Activephase birds that had higher resting metabolic rates lost more water through evaporation than resting-phase birds. The direction and magnitude of relationship between ambient temperature and evaporative water loss at a high temperature also differed between active- and resting-phase birds. These results suggest that birds do not experience a tradeoff between water conservation at lower temperatures and efficient heat dissipation under heat stress, and that the activity level of a bird may affect the ability to dissipate heat through water evaporation.

The upper critical temperature (UCT) of an endotherm represents the temperature that requires it to actively dissipate mettabolic heat through increased energy consumption. Endotherms have relatively low variation in UCT compared to the variation in the lower critical temperature (LCT), but environmental conditions are also linked to intraspecific and interspecific variation in UCT. Difficulty in estimating UCT and differences in data quality complicate the comparative analysis of this variation in UCT. In the fourth chapter, we compiled estimates of UCT for 210 bird species, categorised the information by data quality, and evaluated the relationship between UCT and ambient temperature, precipitation, seasonality, migration and circadian cycle. UCT was positively correlated with maximum temperature in the natural range and negatively correlated with body mass, long-distance migration and summer precipitation. Birds in the resting phase of the circadian cycle had lower UCT compared to birds in the active phase. Including the studies that did not include temperatures well above UCT resulted in slightly reduced coefficient estimates for UCT and thus lower accuracy. However, data quality did not severely impact the precision of estimates.

For Floppy, Oyster and Post

# Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Unresolved Questions in Endotherm Thermal Physiology

1.1 The biology of metabolic rates

1.1.1 The allometry of metabolic rates

# 1.1.2 Biological significance of the basal metabolic rate

1.1.2.1 Physiological performance

1.1.2.2 Life history

1.1.2.3 Food habits

1.1.2.4 Behaviour

1.2 The biological effects of high ambient temperature

1.2.1 Determinants of the upper thermal limit

1.2.2 Physiological impacts of high temperature

1.2.2.1 Thermal stress

1.2.2.2 Water stress

1.2.3 Ecological impacts of high temperature

1.3 Methodological concerns in thermal physiology

1.3.1 Non-standardised empirical techniques

1.3.2 Missing and incompletely reported data

1.3.3 Methodological concerns in statistical analysis

1.4 Concluding remarks

Chapter 2. The environmental and ecological correlates of the avian field metabolic rate and water flux

2.1 Introduction

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Data collection

2.2.2 Statistical analysis

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Field metabolic rate

2.3.2 Field water flux

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Field metabolic rate

2.4.2 Field water flux

2.4.3 Conclusion

Chapter 3. The environmental determinants of evaporative water loss in birds at multiple temperatures

3.1 Introduction

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Data collection

3.2.2 Statistical analysis

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Evaporative water loss at 25°C

3.3.2 Evaporative water loss at 40°C

3.3.3 Slope of TEWL above 35°C

3.4 Discussion

Chapter 4. Interspecific variation of upper critical temperatures in birds and the effect of data quality

4.1 Introduction

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Data collection

4.2.2 Statistical analysis

4.3. Results

4.3.1 Climatic determinants of the upper critical temperature

4.3.2 Effect of data quality

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1 Effects of climate and life history on avian UCT

4.4.2 Significance of data quality

References

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my dissertation committee for their feedback and instruction: Dr. Steven Beissinger, Dr. Robert Dudley and Dr. Perry de Valpine. Additionally, I would like to thank Ms. Sara Stoudt for her valuable insight in statistics and data analysis.

I faced many setbacks through my research, and I would not have been able to complete the dissertation without a considerable amount of support on a more personal level. I would like to thank my former supervisor, Dr. Piotr G. Jablonski, for mental and professional support through graduate school. Additionally, a thesis-writing group with my departmental colleagues including Mr. Adrian Lu, Ms. Kaitlyn Gaynor, Ms. Emily Kearney and Ms. Suzanne Kelson helped me stay focused during the most stressful times.

I would like to thank Mr. Tracy Hruska, Mr. Alex McInturff, Ms. Ashton Wesner, Ms. Melina Packer and Mr. Sean Peterson for letting me spend time with their animals. Additionally, I would like to thank Tsuga the dog, Brain and Go the cats, Felipe the cat, Henry the mouse, Lilli the cat, and Owl and Pigeon the rats for cooperating with the idea of interaction with a previously unknown human being. I thank Ms. Mai Dao for letting me have her wonderful dogs as company while I was laying down the groundwork for my thesis, and I also thank Enzo, Twinkle and Nina the dogs for cooperating with that particular plan. I thank Maurice the cat for grooming and meowing on my bed when I was trying to concentrate on finishing my dissertation.

Without financial support from Samsung Scholarship and University of California, Berkeley, I would not have been able to afford the cost of living and working in this area, and I am highly grateful that this was not the case.

Finally, I would like to thank everyone who had been supportive of me and of my work through this stressful period.

# **Chapter 1. Unresolved Questions in Endotherm Thermal Physiology**

# 1.1 The biology of metabolic rates

The metabolic rate of an organism is the rate at which it expends chemical energy(IUPS Thermal Commission 2003). As tissues vary in their energy consumption according to the physiological state of the individual, metabolic rates differ on a continuous scale in accordance with the activity level of an animal. The maximal metabolic rate of an animal may be several times the minimum, or basal, metabolic rate(Swanson 2010), and laboratory measurements may differ considerably from those in the field.

The basal metabolic rate (BMR) is the minimum energy consumed by a resting, postabsorptive, non-reproductive endotherm (McNab 1997), with minimal loss of body heat to the surroundings. While BMR represents idealised conditions seldom observed in the field, making its biological significance controversial, it is relatively easy to measure under standardised conditions, and therefore can be incorporated into interspecific comparative studies. The field metabolic rate (FMR), on the other hand, is the average energy expenditure of an organism under natural conditions. FMR is biologically important as it represents the daily energy requirement for an individual (Anderson and Jetz 2005), but methods that are costlier, less precise and harder to standardise are required for its measurement, such as the doubly-labelled water method (Speakman 1998).

The maximal metabolic rate (MMR) is the maximum energy expenditure of an animal over a short period of time (McKechnie and Swanson 2010). Animals are exposed to physical exertion that leads to exhaustion, and their oxygen consumption is determined by respirometry. This value is closely related to the maximum thermoregulatory energy consumption, as shivering thermogenesis produces heat by muscular activity. Equipment such as treadmills (e.g., Bundle et al. 1999, Ellerby et al. 2003), running wheels (e.g., Chappell and Dlugosz 2009, Dlugosz et al. 2012) and wind tunnels (Bernstein, Thomas and Schmidt 1973) have been successfully utilised in the measurement of maximal metabolic rates, but they cannot readily be used on wild-caught individuals, rendering information on endotherm MMR relatively scarce.

The association between metabolic rates and various morphological, physiological and ecological characteristics of endotherms has been the topic of an ongoing debate. As it is difficult to standardise the measurements for field and maximal metabolic rates, basal metabolic rates have been the most extensively examined. In this section, current academic understanding of the biology of metabolic rates will be summarised with a focus on BMR.

## 1.1.1 The allometry of metabolic rates

A striking property of the metabolic rate is that it scales in relation to body mass(Calder 1981). The relationship is not linear but loglinear with a slope less than 1. Larger animals expend larger amounts of energy, but smaller animals require larger energy expenditure per body mass. Kleiber (1932) had led a pioneering study on allometric scaling, examining heat exchange through the surface of an animal's body and the mechanical energy of fluids moving through circulatory networks as potential mechanisms. The relationship between body mass and metabolic rate is found across taxa and at both resting and active animals, but the scaling exponent is not universal(White, Cassey, and Blackburn 2007). Mechanistic models have therefore been proposed to address metabolic scaling, often based either on surface area relationships or on circulatory networks (but see Agutter and Tuszynski (2011) on the possibility of biochemical mechanisms underlying allometric relationships).

Models focusing on surface area relationships argue mainly that exchange of energy and matter depends on the surface area of an organism. As the surface area is related through a power law to the volume, it follows that exchange of matter and energy will have a power-law relation to the volume of the organism. The loss of heat to the atmosphere (Roberts, Lightfoot and Porter 2010, Speakman and Krol 2010) has been proposed as a mechanistic basis of surface area relationships at the cellular level, while others put an emphasis upon the exchange of matter (Kooijman 1986, Glazier 2005) for larger cells and at the organismal level.

The West, Brown and Enquist (1997) model, on the other hand, places the circulatory network as the basis of allometric relationships. This model postulates that resource distribution is a major energetic cost that has been optimised through evolutionary history. This evolutionary constraint leads to structural similarities in circulatory networks and to the scaling of the cost of transport according to size. This model has been extended to intracellular networks (West et al. 2002) and to systems without inherent fractality in circulatory networks (Banavar et al. 2010). Combined with temperature dependence of biochemical reactions, this model has been extended to the ecological scale (Brown et al. 2004).

However, models with a single, universal mechanism for allometric scaling show more discrepancies with existing data compared to more complex models. Assumptions for models focusing on circulatory networks are unrealistic in that the evolutionary optimisation of energetic costs for transport is poorly supported (O'Connor et al. 2007). The model also does not agree with data from animals with smaller body sizes (Savage, Deeds and Fontana 2008). Incorporating differences between functional tissues and energy reserves (Maino et al. 2014) allows these models to address the role of surface area relationships (Shestopaloff 2016).

Contrary to the expectations from a mechanistic model of a single underlying process, the scaling exponents of the relationship are also dissimilar across taxa. In mammals the exponent is approximately 2/3 (White and Seymour 2003), while metabolic rates scale with a power closer to 3/4 when multiple taxa are examined (Savage et al. 2004). This exponent has a significant phylogenetic signal (Capellini, Venditti and Barton 2010), and although it is associated with endothermy (White, Cassey and Blackburn 2007) and body mass (Packard and Birchard 2008), it cannot be reduced to consistent morphological differences (Isaac and Carbone 2010). This heterogeneity is insensitive to different statistical methods (Sieg et al. 2009), and the degree of heterogeneity across taxa also differs in birds and mammals (Rezende et al. 2002, McNab 2016). An information-theoretic approach (White, Frappell and Chown 2012) also supports the use of multiple allometric exponents.

The allometric scaling of the metabolic rates of active animals has only recently been examined. A scaling exponent of 0.67 similar to that of BMR has been proposed for the field metabolic rates of endotherms (Hudson, Isaac and Reuman 2013, but also see Packard 2017 for an alternative interpretation). Processes that increase energy demands, such as lactation (Douhard et al. 2016) and exertion (White et al. 2008, Dlugosz et al. 2013), elevate the scaling exponent, and the exponent is higher at higher metabolic rates. Mechanisms such as the aerobic capacity of muscular tissue driving the high metabolic rate (Weibel et al. 2004), increased mechanical resistance from the transportation network (Barbosa et al. 2005) and heart rate (Hedrick, Hancock and Hillman 2015) contribute to allometric scaling. It is likely that the relative contribution of these mechanisms will change as metabolic demands increase (Darveau et al. 2002, Glazier 2008).

Thus, while the allometric scaling of metabolic rates is a universal phenomenon, it cannot readily be reduced to a single mechanism that dominates energy metabolism. Instead, various mechanisms at the molecular, cellular and organismal level link the metabolic rate with the body size of an animal. A comprehensive understanding of the mechanism of the allometric scaling of metabolic rate, however, still remains to be achieved.

## 1.1.2 Biological significance of the basal metabolic rate

Animals spend a significant proportion of time either in a non-resting state or in a temperature range that requires additional thermoregulatory energy expenditure. Due to the relative ease of standardised measurement, BMR is most commonly used to represent energy consumption of endotherms. However, unlike FMR as the energy expenditure of an animal in its natural habitat, BMR cannot be directly interpreted as a biologically meaningful variable.

Similarly to field metabolic rates (Anderson and Jetz 2005), basal metabolic rates are closely associated with environmental conditions. Comparative studies of basal metabolic rates both within and across species (e.g., Cooper and Gessaman 2004, McNab 2016) reveal consistent trends of higher BMR in areas of lower ambient temperature (e.g., Broggi et al. 2007, Jetz, Freckleton and McKechnie 2008, Nilsson et al. 2011, Luna, Naya and Naya 2017), higher latitude (Wiersma et al. 2007), and greater seasonality (Cavieres and Sabat 2008), while endotherms in tropical areas (Londono et al. 2015), deserts and arid climates have low BMR (Tieleman and Williams 2000, Withers, Cooper and Larcombe 2006). Seasonal variation in BMR is also influenced by environmental conditions (Maldonado et al. 2012, Noakes, Wolf and McKechnie 2017). It is possible that these factors influence BMR through resource availability; habitat productivity (Bozinovic et al. 2009), insularity (e.g. Noakes et al. 2013) and habitat quality (Gutierrez et al. 2012) have been found to affect BMR. Especially in birds, for which primary productivity is not closely associated with BMR (White et al. 2007), it is also possible that thermoregulation by generation of metabolic heat at low ambient temperatures results in higher BMR for cold-adapted species(Fristoe et al. 2015).

Although these patterns do not warrant the functional significance of BMR, the connection between BMR and fitness has been addressed by several hypotheses. The two best-characterised hypotheses are the performance, or increased-intake, hypothesis and the allocation hypothesis. The performance hypothesis (Bennet and Ruben 1979) postulates that the basal metabolic rate of endotherms evolved in conjunction with a high metabolic performance, and that high basal metabolic rates are linked to a larger energy budget. The allocation hypothesis (Deerenberg et al. 1998) proposes that there is a hard upper limit on the total energy budget. The animal therefore experiences a trade-off between thermoregulation and other biological needs such as activity, growth and reproduction. As basal metabolic rates are heritable (Ronning, Moe and Bech 2005) independently of the heritability of body mass (Ronning et al. 2007, Tieleman et al. 2009), the evolution of basal metabolic rates in endotherms is also closely tied to the relationship between BMR and biological functions.

#### 1.1.2.1 Physiological performance

Endothermy has evolved independently in birds and mammals, which leads to various postulates on the adaptive value of a higher metabolic rate that led to endothermy. Endothermy allows for sustained physiological activity at a wider range of ambient temperatures, but it is not clear if this advantage had been sufficient to confer higher fitness to early endotherms, as the constant expenditure of energy for basal metabolism combined with a relatively small thermoregulatory ability is likely to have lowered fitness. Therefore, the link suggested by the performance hypothesis between high BMR and various measures of the physiological performance of endotherms is a key to understanding the evolutionary origin of endothermy. Evolutionary hypotheses on the origin of endothermy therefore focus on finding a link between high basal metabolic rates and various measures of the physiological performance of endotherm, in line with the performance hypothesis between basal metabolic rates and physiological performance (e.g., Hayes and Garland 1995, Clarke and Portner 2010).

The 'aerobic capacity' hypothesis (Bennet and Ruben 1979) suggests that the evolution of endothermy is linked to the fitness benefits of an increased rate of oxygen consumption in physical activity. According to this hypothesis, a higher maximal metabolic rate is connected

to metabolically costly tissues required for exertion and therefore an increase in BMR. Interspecific comparative studies suggest positive correlation between basal and maximal metabolic rates (e.g., Swanson et al. 2012, Nespolo, Solano-Iguaran, Bozinovic 2017), but intraspecific studies do not universally support this hypothesis. Correlations between BMR and MMR between individuals are context-dependent (Careau et al. 2014). More active individuals do not have higher BMR, and BMR does not always increase when activity levels are empirically adjusted (e.g., Deerenberg et al. 1998, Careau et al. 2013). Plastic changes in basal and maximal metabolic rates do not coincide (Lu, Zhong and Wang 2007), and artificial selection experiments yielded mixed results on the association between BMR and MMR (Sadowska et al. 2015, Wone et al. 2015).

Another set of hypotheses concerning the evolution of basal metabolic rate connects BMR to metabolically expensive processes. The maintenance of certain tissues, such as the digestive tract, liver and reproductive structures, requires high energy consumption. This maintenance cost results in higher metabolic rates with increased investment on these tissues. In some mammalian (Sadowska et al. 2013) and avian (Barcelo et al. 2016) species, high activity in the digestive tract coincides with a high metabolic rate. Investment on reproductive tissue has been also suggested as a possible factor on the evolution of metabolic rates (Koteja 2000, Farmer 2000), although lactating mice did not show an association between investment in milk production and resting metabolic rates (Speakman and Krol 2004). Interspecifically, the masses of various metabolically expensive tissues, such as the heart, liver, kidneys and testes, were related to basal metabolic rates (Wiersma et al. 2012).

The association between low ambient temperatures and high BMR suggests a role of thermogenic capacity in the evolution of BMR in endotherms. The obligatory heat hypothesis (Naya et al. 2012) suggests that thermogenic needs exert a selective pressure on basal metabolic rates. An animal's rate of heat loss to ambient temperature determines the amount of metabolic heat required to maintain its body temperature setpoint. As expected from this hypothesis, harsh winters promote higher survival for individuals with higher BMR (Nilsson and Nilsson 2016). The degree of seasonal plasticity in BMR is also connected to environmental conditions (e.g., Versteegh et al. 2012, Cortes et al. 2015), suggesting an association between higher BMR and elevated thermogenic needs.

#### 1.1.2.2 Life history

Life histories may be defined as a suite of different strategies that affect survival and reproduction (Ricklefs and Wikelski 2002). The number of combinations of strategies present in nature, however, is much smaller than is theoretically possible, with trade-offs between survival and reproduction and between longevity and fecundity. Highly active species with higher growth rates and larger investment into reproduction, also referred to as the 'fast-living species', are often shorter-lived. 'Slow-living species' that are generally sedentary, slow-growing species with low fecundity have longer lifespans. A fast pace of life requires high activity in the metabolically expensive tissues also associated with higher BMR. Thus, a connection between basal metabolic rate and the pace of life has been suggested (McNab 1980) and extensively examined.

If a high basal metabolic rate is connected to a 'fast' pace of living, species and populations with higher metabolic rates will demonstrate higher rates of growth and senescence. Interspecific comparative analysis in birds generally supports this prediction. Passerine species with higher BMR demonstrate faster growth as nestlings (Ton and Martin 2016), and neotropical birds have slower growth rates compared to temperate species (Jimenez et al. 2013a), a relationship maintained at the cellular level (Jimenez et al. 2013b). Lower BMR is correlated with longer incubation times and higher investment in innate immunity (Pap et al. 2014). On the other hand, age of maturity and growth rate were not correlated with the

metabolic rates of mammals (Lovegrove 2009). Intraspecific studies of birds also suggest that individual variation in metabolic rates do not predict the rates of senescence in birds (Bowhuis et al. 2011, Ronning et al. 2014), investment in immunity (Versteegh et al. 2012), or the production of reactive oxygen species, a group of highly active oxygen-containing compounds (Beamonte-Barrientos and Verhulst 2013).

Another trait closely linked to the pace-of-life syndrome is the reproductive output and investment. When reproductive investment was empirically increased by brood size manipulations, increased BMR and the ratio of BMR/FMR was observed (Nilsson 2002). In certain rodent (Boratynski and Koteja 2010) and bird (Ronning et al. 2015) species, overall reproductive success was correlated to higher basal metabolic rates, suggesting that intraspecific differences in basal metabolic rates are connected to differential reproductive investments. A comparison between two closely related rodent species showed that the species that experience larger population fluctuations, often also linked to higher investment into reproductive rates, had higher BMR (Kurta and Ferkin 1991). However, intraspecific comparisons between different dog lineages suggest that this association may be reversed by artificial selection and is not mechanistically tightly connected (Jimenez 2016). Interspecific comparative studies (e.g., Trevelyan, Harvey and Pagel 1990, Speakman 2005, Bech et al. 2016) do not suggest any association between basal metabolic rates and life history traits.

#### 1.1.2.3 Food habits

The food habits hypothesis (McNab 1986, McNab 1988) connects food habits and metabolic rates of animals. It suggests that an animal's food habit determines the amount of energy that can be obtained from dietary intake, and therfore limits the metabolic rate possible for the animal. According to this hypothesis, animals that consume easily digested matter with low secondary metabolite content available throughout the year will have a larger energy budget and BMR. McNab (1986) suggested that this difference in the energy availability will lead to a higher biological performance and reproductive output.

The food habit hypothesis, however, has only received mixed support. Animals fed lowenergy diets develop lower BMRs (Cruz-Neto and Bozinovic 2004, Maldonado et al. 2012). In natural populations of passerine and non-passerine birds, populations with access to highenergy diets have higher BMR (Sabat et al. 2009, McClelland, McKechnie and Chown 2016). However, this correlation is not universal (Bozinovic, Munoz and Cruz-Neto 2007), and artificial selection experiment toward a low-energy diet resulted in a higher BMR (Sadowska et al. 2009). The food habit hypothesis is not universally supported by interspecific, comparative studies. Diet and metabolic rates were related in rodents and carnivoran mammals, (Munoz-Garcia and Williams 2005, Naya et al. 2013), but not in birds (Schleucher and Withers 2002, Sabat et al. 2010) and bats (Cruz-Neto, Garland and Abe 2001). Therefore, whether there is a relationship between BMR and food habits, and whether the relationship conforms to the expectation that BMR is limited simply by energy availability, remains an open question.

### 1.1.2.4 Behaviour

The performance and allocation hypotheses lead to strikingly different predictions on the association between metabolic rates and behavioural characteristics. The performance hypothesis predicts that animals with a high BMR will display high activity and energy requirements. On the other hand, the allocation hypothesis predicts that individuals with higher BMR will have less energy available for other activities and will demonstrate a relatively low activity level and lower fitness than low-BMR individuals.

Animal personalities, or behavioural syndromes, refer to consistent individual behavioural differences (Sih, Bell and Johnson 2004). Individuals of many species may be categorised into more proactive or more reactive personality types(Careau et al. 2008). Proactive individuals

are more exploratory toward novel environments and more frequently involve themselves in risk-taking behaviour. This tendency results in higher energy expenditure for activity. According to the performance hypothesis, proactive individuals have a higher energy budget and greater amounts of costly tissues, thus resulting in high BMR. The allocation hypothesis predicts that active individuals allocate lower amount of energy to BMR. There is a lack of consensus across studies with regards to animal personality and basal metabolic rates. The presence and direction of relationship between metabolic rates and personality types differ among populations (Maldonado et al. 2012) and sexes (Bouwhuis et al. 2013, Sichova et al. 2013), as well as species (Mathot et al. 2009, Lantova et al. 2011, Careau et al. 2015). Therefore, it is likely that basal metabolic rates and animal personality are not directly connected by a single mechanistic pathway.

The establishment and maintenance of high social rank in social animals is energetically costly, and therefore the energy expenditure connected with a high social rank may be examined in terms of the aforesaid hypotheses. In foraging flocks of parids, higher social rank was correlated with higher basal metabolic rates (Roskaft et al. 1986, Hogstad et al. 1987), supporting the performance hypothesis. Bryant and Newton (1994) also reported a slightly higher BMR in dippers of higher social ranks. On the other hand, Vezina and Thomas (2000) and Lewden et al. (2011) reported no significant connection between social rank and metabolic rates. While Senar et al. (2000) reported a higher metabolic rate in siskins of low social ranks, they suggested that this metabolic cost was associated with higher stress levels due to exposure to aggression instead of a result of differences in energy allocation.

It is likely, therefore, that the association between metabolic rates and energy expensive behaviour is not universal. Mechanistic connections between metabolic rates and behavioural characteristics will be necessary to elucidate the exact contexts influencing this relationship. From the observation that positive relationships were present mainly when metabolic rates were measured before behavioural experiments, Biro and Stamps (2010) suggested that higher energy expenditure may lead to increased frequency in costly behaviour. While hormone level is highly variable compared to personality traits or metabolic rates (Holtmann et al. 2017), endocrine pathways affect both metabolic rates and behavioural traits and is a candidate for the mechanistic connection. Stress has been known to alter the connection between metabolic rates and behavioural characteristics (Careau, Buttemer and Buchanan 2013, Killen et al. 2013), further supporting the possibility that endocrine pathways connect these two mechanisms. As corticosteroids influence energy metabolism, behaviour and stress response simultaneously (Careau et al. 2008), they may be a target for further attention. However, these potential mechanisms remain speculative and not empirically tested.

# 1.2 The biological effects of high ambient temperature

In a postabsorptive resting endothermic animal, tissue maintenance and body temperature regulation are the two main contributors to energy expenditure. Under conditions in which the metabolic heat generated by tissue maintenance is smaller than the amount of heat lost to the atmosphere, the Scholander-Irving model (review in Rezende and Bacigalupe 2015) predicts that the endotherm will generate additional metabolic heat to defend its body temperature. This model is widely accepted in addressing cold tolerance in endotherms.

While endotherms generally increase their metabolic rate in response to high ambient temperatures, the mechanism behind this increase is not as adequately addressed. Increased thermal conductance by the means of evaporation (Rezende and Bacigalupe 2015) and the effect of increased body temperature (Tomlinson 2014) are suggested as the factors that may affect this increase. However, there yet does not exist a mechanistic model that addresses this increase. Measurements for upper thermal limits are also relatively scarce, and a considerable

proportion of the reports rely on statistically unsound measures such as repeated F-tests and fitting by eye. This further complicates the examination of upper thermal limits.

## 1.2.1 Determinants of the upper thermal limit

As a result of the difficulty in obtaining reliable estimates of the upper thermal limit, there is a relative paucity of literature on the biological and ecological predictors of the upper critical temperature of endotherms. Several studies that address the thermal limits of closely related species, however, provide some insight upon the possible factors associated with upper thermal limits.

Upper thermal limits of endotherms are not strongly correlated with body mass (e.g., McKechnie et al. 2016), unlike their lower thermal limits where larger species are generally more resistant to cold ambient temperatures and unlike in the thermal limits of some ectotherms (e.g., Klockmann et al. 2017). Animals exposed to extreme summer temperatures in natural habitats often demonstrate higher thermal limits than closely related species occupying relatively cool habitats (e.g., Mann 1983, Hayworth and Weathers 1984, Ganey et al. 1993, Cooper and Gessaman 2004). Where the ambient temperature is similar, humidity seems to be a contributing factor of the upper thermal limit; species occupying relatively arid habitats demonstrate higher tolerance to elevated temperatures than more mesic species (Frumkin et al. 1986). Certain ecological characteristics postulated to affect the basal metabolic rate, such as insularity (McNab 2003) and flightlessness (McNab and Ellis 2006) are not associated with thermal limits, indicating that the upper thermal limit is not dictated solely by adjustments in the metabolic rate.

While these environmental factors appear to influence the upper thermal limits of the endotherm, studies encompassing wider ranges of taxa suggest that the variation in upper thermal limits according to their environment is much smaller than that in lower thermal limits (Araujo et al. 2013, Khaliq et al. 2014). From this, they conclude that there is a rigid physiological upper limit on high ambient temperatures which constrain the evolutionary potential for tolerance to heat. The well-documented responses to high temperatures are in accord with such postulates. However, the influence of biological and ecological covariates within this boundary remains to be explored.

## 1.2.2 Physiological impacts of high temperature

## 1.2.2.1 Thermal stress

The physiological impacts of thermoregulatory failure on endothermic animals are welldocumented at the molecular and cellular level (e.g., Velichko et al. 2013). Abrupt rises in body temperatures are relatively uncommon, and short-term acclimation has been shown to occur in high as well as low temperatures (e.g., van de Ven et al. 2013, Zheng et al. 2013, Swanson et al. 2014). However, certain laboratory experiments (Valencak et al. 2013, Sadowska 2016, but see Ksiazek & Konarzewski 2016) suggest that higher heat dissipation capacity allows for greater physiological activity (Speakman & Krol 2010). When ambient temperatures are high and thermal conductance low, endotherms will exhibit decreased physiological activity. As expected, exposure to high ambient temperature has been documented as a source of decreased biological performance in endothermic species under both field and laboratory conditions.

Not surprisingly, humans are the most extensively studied endothermic species in terms of the possible impacts of high environmental temperature. Mortality from heat waves have long been reported in urban areas (review in Rupa and Samet 2002), with lethal limits as low as 30°C in humid conditions (Mora et al. 2017). The effects of hyperthermia and resulting heat shock are often lethal, and survivors often experience systematic inflammatory responses (Leon and Bouchama 2015), severe reduction in physiological performance and increased mortality (Kovats and Hajat 2008). Elevation in skin temperature due to high ambient

temperature results in significantly reduced aerobic performance (Cuddy et al. 2014), and even sublethal heat stress is associated with severe discomfort (Hanna and Tait 2015).

Under laboratory conditions, domesticated and captive endotherms are known to respond to high temperatures by reduced physiological performance. Prenatal exposure of domesticated chickens to high temperatures results in slower assimilation and tissue production and reduced antioxidant enzyme activity (Kamanli et al. 2015). Organismal effects of high temperature in older birds included reduced density of blood cells (Donkoh 1989), reduced exercise performance and growth of muscle cells (Azad et al. 2010), and damage to liver and heart tissue (Chowdhury et al. 2012). Suppressed immune responses as a result of exposure to high temperatures have been observed in domesticated ducks (Marais et al. 2011). Laboratory studies in giant pandas(*Alluropoda melanoleuca*) suggest that relatively large endotherms also suffer reduced performance with elevated temperature (Zang et al. 2017).

Juvenile endotherms with less effective insulatory and thermoregulatory mechanisms compared to those of adults are often severely affected by high temperatures, and exposure to high temperatures affects nest site selection (Tieleman et al. 2008), incubation strategy (AlRashidi et al. 2011) and provisioning decisions (Robertson 2009). Nestling exposure to high temperatures induce reduced growth, inferior body conditions and lower postfledging survival (e.g., Greno et al. 2008, Cunningham et al. 2013, Salaberria et al. 2014, Rodriguez and Barba 2016) as well as direct mortality (Catry et al. 2015). While there are considerable differences across species with regards to nestling response to high ambient temperatures, these effects contribute to the overall negative effects of high temperature on fitness.

Mass mortality can occur as a result of temperatures exceeding lethal thermal limits, typically during heat waves. Prolonged exposure to lethal temperatures have led to deaths in a bat species (Welbergen et al. 2008) and various avian populations (reviewed in McKechnie et al. 2012) in Australia. As extreme climatic events are projected to increase with climate change, and as declining body size, which reduces resistance to temperature extremes, has been observed across multiple taxa (Gardner et al. 2011), it is expected that the cases of mortality in response to heat stress will increase in the future, especially in tropical or subtropical regions where the maximum temperatures are close to thermal limits.

There is some evidence that thermal conditions impose constraints that may induce costs in survival, body condition and reproductive output of adults (Bolger et al. 2005), and that certain species are more vulnerable to sublethal heat stress (Xie et al. 2017). While behavioural adaptations modulate the degree of exposure to thermal stress, thermoregulatory behaviour imposes trade-offs in the time and energy budget of an endotherm. In both birds and mammals, activity is greatly reduced in exposed habitats during warmer hours of the day (e.g., Clark 1987, Zub et al. 2013). A diurnal avian species demonstrated preference of cooler microclimates and reduced movements during periods of high environmental temperature (Carroll et al. 2015). Increased thermoregulatory demands reduce foraging efficiency (du Plessis et al. 2012, Mason et al. 2017). Reduction in parental care behaviour according to thermoregulatory demands has also been reported (Oswald et al. 2008). These trade-offs may interact with other environmental stressors to induce diminished survival and reproductive output (e.g., Gaston et al. 2002).

From the evidence, it is possible to conclude that heat stress results in elevated mortality in addition to reduced physiological performance and reproductive success. However, their combined effects on individual fitness and population dynamics are poorly characterised. Even though it can be expected that reduced body conditions, survival and reproductive success will result in population declines, only one study to this date was able to quantify this connection (Gardner et al. 2016). The role of thermoregulatory challenges posed by high ambient temperatures in the ecological context of climate change impacts remains unresolved.

#### 1.2.2.2 Water stress

Compared to ectotherms, the amount of metabolic heat generated in endotherms is much larger, and the challenge to avoid hyperthermia increases as the ambient temperature approaches body temperature. Under such conditions, evaporation of water is the only efficient mechanism of heat dissipation. As a result, evaporative water loss is minimal at low temperatures, but increases drastically when the temperature gradient between the animal and the surroundings prevents effective heat dissipation by convection (Tomlinson 2016). Evaporation may occur through the skin (cutaneous evaporative water loss; e.g., Marder and Ben-Asher 1983, Munoz-Garcia and Williams 2007) or through the respiratory tract (respiratory evaporative water loss; e.g., Engel et al. 2006). The relative contribution of each pathway varies according to temperature and humidity (Wolf and Walsberg 1996, Williams and Tieleman 2000, Tieleman and Williams 2002) and the presence of specific anatomic or physiological adaptations. Increase in the amount of evaporative water loss is often an important aspect of thermal acclimation (e.g., Marder 1983, Hoffman and Walsberg 1999, McKechnie and Wolf 2004, Sugimoto et al. 2013, Noakes et al. 2016).

Endotherms, therefore, experience a trade-off between reducing the two risks of heat and water stress. As evaporation is the most effective measure of heat dissipation, prolonged exposure to high temperatures result in higher degrees of dehydration (e.g., Salaberria et al. 2014). Adaptations such as countercurrent heat exchange (Schmidt-Nielsen et al. 1970, van de Ven et al. 2016, Danner et al. 2017) allow endotherms to reduce water demands without increasing heat loads. Other species have been reported to conserve water at low humidity(Withers and Cooper 2014, Baldo et al. 2016), possibly through mechanisms such as modulation of membrane lipids (Williams and Tieleman 2005, Munoz-Garcia et al. 2008, Champagne et al. 2016). Animals not adapted to arid climates have also been found to conserve water by reduced cardiac output to appendages (e.g. Zhou et al. 1999) reduced activity of sweat glands (e.g., Baker 1989), and selective brain cooling (Kuhnen 1997, Robertshaw 2006, Hetem et al. 2012, Strauss et al. 2016). At higher temperatures where metabolic heat may not be dispersed by convection or radiation, endotherms are forced to resort to hyperthermia (Taylor 1970, Ostrowski et al. 2003, review in Fuller et al. 2014), which imposes further thermal stress on the animal. Especially for relatively small animals that cannot tolerate hyperthermia, this severely restricts activity (e.g., Mitchell et al. 2009).

As ambient temperatures rise, the need to avoid dehydration and hyperthermia will pose a significant challenge to endotherms. McKechnie and Wolf (2010) predicted that birds will face increased risks of lethal dehydration during the day in subtropical habitats. Albright et al. (2017) postulated similar increases in the risk of lethal dehydration in North America. The challenge of obtaining water is a limiting factor to the most effective heat dissipation mechanism, which is also the only possible pathway of heat loss when the ambient temperature exceeds body temperature. However, these predictions resort to arbitrary lethal thresholds, and it is difficult to disentangle the effects of dehydration and hyperthermia in mortality events. A more mechanistic examination of heat and water balance and of adaptations that conserve water will be necessary to evaluate the validity of these models.

### 1.2.3 Ecological impacts of high temperature

The thermal niche concept (Porter and Kearney 2009) includes the thermal environment as a component of the fundamental niche of an endothermic organism. The fundamental niche does not evolve quickly along with environmental shifts (Wiens et al. 2010). Under the context of climate change, many endotherms are exposed to suboptimal thermal conditions, resulting in population-wide responses that causes gradual population decline in habitats outside of its fundamental niche.

A large number of studies have examined changes in the geographic range of animals. Birds are more mobile than small mammals and may therefore respond relatively quickly to environmental conditions. In North America (Zuckerberg et al. 2009) and Europe (Chen et al. 2011, Mason et al. 2015), bird populations have demonstrated poleward shifts in their distribution. Bird populations located in climate conditions dissimilar to historical habitats suffered population decline (Stephens et al. 2016). Decline in a ground-dwelling bird species was documented as a response to the combined effects of higher temperature and lower precipitation (Cruz-McDonnell and Wolf 2016) as well as in multiple other avian populations (Pearce-Higgins et al. 2015). Higher spring and summer temperatures were correlated with negative population trends of cold-associated avian species (Pearce-Higgins et al. 2015). These observations support the possibility that climate is an important component of the fundamental niche of an endotherm.

In some cases, ambient temperatures can predict the occurrence and viability of avian populations when the confounding effect of habitat variables are accounted for (Oswald et al. 2011, Stralberg et al. 2009). Thermal environments may influence mammalian as well as avian population dynamics; population declines have been reported in Sierra Nevada ground squirrels despite increases in energy supply (Eastman et al. 2012), and survival in a North American desert kangaroo rat population is negatively associated with diurnal surface temperature (Moses et al. 2011).

On the other hand, despite the large number of studies documenting shifts in population dynamics in response to climate change, studies generally focus on indirect effects of climate change on other environmental variables (Jenouvrier 2013). Species responding heavily to climate change also often does not show low physiological tolerance to heat. Distributional shifts in North American passerines did not match the patterns in climate and did not mitigate temperature changes in their habitat (Currie and Venne 2017). In a high-altitude habitat, negative population trends in birds was not associated with vulnerability to high temperatures (Milne et al. 2015). These findings have led to suggestions that biotic effects are a stronger driver of climate change impacts on population dynamics (Ockendon et al. 2014).

The conflicting evidence with regards to the direct effect of high temperature on population dynamics indicate that the relative contribution of abiotic factors is highly context-dependent, necessiating closer examination of the physiological and ecological characteristics of vulnerable species. Interspecific relationships may interact with physiological tolerance, with more vulnerable species also being less resistant to negative biotic effects (Diamond et al. 2017). The magnitude of indirect climatic effects also depends on the ecological characteristics of the habitat itself (Maron et al. 2015). It is likely, therefore, that any mechanistic connections between population dynamics and thermal physiology will not be sufficiently generalisable without studying particular focal species.

# **1.3 Methodological concerns in thermal physiology**

The detection of ecological patterns in thermal physiology inevitably requires an approach that involves the integration of empirical information across a broad range of space and time. Since the advent of respirometric techniques in the twentieth century, a number of different research groups have tackled the question of determining the heat and water exchange between an endotherm and its environment. However, this accumulation of knowledge was not necessarily accompanied by a methodological consensus among researchers in terms of measurement, reporting and analysis. Even as recent concerns involving the manifold challenges posed by climate change emerge, a large proportion of comparative thermal physiological research is riddled with the need for a standard, efficient method that adequately addresses these discrepancies.

## 1.3.1 Non-standardised empirical techniques

When the outcomes of multiple studies are compared within a statistical framework, it is of utmost importance that the measurements are methodologically comparable. Multiple sources of discrepancies that result in non-standardised measurements can be found in empirical thermal physiology. Challenges for the researcher include not only the possible issues with experimental set-up and sampling but also the issues that stem directly from the biology of endothermic organisms. It is only relatively recently that many of those concerns have been documented and addressed.

Flow-through respirometry has been widely adopted as a relatively standard and reliable technique to determine the gas exchange and the energy expenditure of an organism (Kristin and Gvozdik 2012). The successful application of this technique, however, may be hindered by interactions between the gases and drying columns (White et al. 2006, Lighton and Halsey 2011) when carbon dioxide production is used to compute energy expenditure (e.g. Whitfield et al. 2015, McKechnie et al. 2016). Sampling regimes within respirometric measurements also influence the outcome (Cooper and Withers 2010). Furthermore, a considerable number of studies have a sample size smaller than three and are possibly influenced by daily or seasonal cycles of metabolic rate (McKechnie and Wolf 2004). Although it has been suggested that the natural variation in resting metabolic rates is not high enough to warrant the necessity of large sample sizes (McNab 2003), a small sample size combined with a lack of documentation on intraspecific variation in thermal physiology is likely to induce biases that are difficult to account for. To prevent these biases from further affecting the accuracy of results, it is recommended that researchers examine the potential error induced by chemical properties of drying columns and collect measurement from at least three individuals(McKechnie and Wolf 2004). Additionally, they must provide accurate information on the sampling regime, time of day, seasonality.

Resting metabolic rates of both ectothermic and endothermic organisms (Nespolo and Franco 2007), including birds (Horak et al. 2002, Versteegh et al. 2008, Broggi et al. 2009) and mammals (Duarte et al. 2010, Boratynski et al. 2017), are repeatable. However, these consecutive measurements have been conducted under relatively similar experimental conditions. The degree of repeatability varies considerably according to experimental settings (Auer et al. 2016) and developmental stage (Lu et al. 2007), suggesting that biological effects cannot be precluded as possible sources of variation in measured resting metabolic rates.

The duration of captivity affects various thermal measurements in endotherms, possibly due to stress responses, although this effect is not constant across species (Larcombe et al. 2007, Cooper and Withers 2012). Animals held in captivity for an extended period of time display changes in basal metabolic rate (Warkentin and West 1990, Thompson et al. 2015) and body temperature (Hilmer et al. 2010). Additionally, even relatively short-term captivity of up to a few weeks has been demonstrated to increase metabolic rates (Swanson and King 2013). This suggests that measurements from long-term captive individuals may not be representative of wild populations, and that it is necessary to record and report the duration of captivity for standardised results.

The order and the duration of exposure to each temperature also influences metabolic responses to ambient temperatures, thus possibly resulting in biases in respirometric measurements. An effect of previous short-term thermal history has been detected in an avian species (Barcelo et al. 2009), highlighting the need to randomise the direction of temperature changes and the order of exposure to temperatures. While a large proportion of empirical studies of energy expenditure determined resting metabolic rates in two hours or less (Downs and Brown 2012), measurement durations ranging between four and ten hours are necessary for birds (Page et al. 2011) and mammals (Cooper and Withers 2009, Connolly and Cooper 2014) to allow the metabolic rate to reach a resting level at the temperatures. Repeated exposure

to experimental conditon also decreases stress responses and associated increases in metabolic rates (Jacobs and McKechnie 2014). These concerns must be balanced with the possibility for changes in thermal physiology during captivity, ideally by gathering preliminary information on the effects of captivity.

## 1.3.2 Missing and incompletely reported data

A necessary pre-condition to a reliable comparative study is that the data are relatively complete and accurately reported. Experimental conditions and sampling schemes vary widely across studies, potentially resulting in a heteroskedastic dataset that necessiates methods of lower statistical power. While an appropriate quantification of uncertainty in the dataset may reduce bias, researchers often concentrate on reporting and discussing the point estimates of thermal variables and neglect the uncertainty in their measurements. Combined with the heteroskedasticity of a comparative analysis, this omission may compromise the precision and accuracy of estimates.

As resting metabolic rates can only be obtained after prolonged exposure to the specific experimental conditions, it is difficult to expose animals to multiple temperatures during a relatively short study period. Frequently, measurements are limited to a small number of experimental temperatures, often in five-degree intervals or larger (e.g. Brush 1965, Mann 1983). The combination of sparse sampling, small sample sizes and a large degree of uncertainty makes it difficult to determine metabolic rates or thermal limits. Most studies report empirical values from simple visual inspection of scatterplots, which makes them unreliable. The relative paucity of literature on endotherm exposure to high temperature (Whitfield et al. 2015) further suggests that a large proportion of reported values are truncated before the upper thermal limit and therefore possibly unsuitable for comparative physiological analysis (Wolf et al. 2017).

Another common problem associated with data quality is the omission of information in literature. As the single greatest determining factor in the metabolic rate of an organism is its body mass, the relationship between thermal biology and the biological and ecological characteristics of a species can only be examined with some information on its body mass. Often, only the range of body masses is reported instead of standard deviation or standard error (e.g., Lasiewski and Dawson 1964, Trost 1972). The sample size is also occasionally omitted (e.g., Marschall and Prinzinger 1991). Furthermore, a considerable number of studies includes only the mean resting metabolic rate and the standard deviation at each temperature without including the individual measured values, even with the advent of online supplementary materials (e.g., Wilson et al. 2011, Bao et al. 2014). Such omissions make it difficult to estimate the degree of uncertainty for the measurements or to re-evaluate the results. Making the raw measurements available in literature along with summaries will prevent further issues concerning the omission of data.

## 1.3.3 Methodological concerns in statistical analysis

When interspecific comparisons are the focus of a study, the information to be analysed will be phylogenetically correlated to varying degrees. Closely related species will have more similar biological characteristics, and the advent of modern genetic methods has made it possible to obtain estimates of evolutionary relationships that are relatively independent of individual traits (e.g., Jetz et al. 2012). This information on the relative strength of phylogenetic correlation allows the researcher to quantify the expected amount of covariance between traits. While it is beyond the scope of the review to examine every argument concerning the most effective way to incorporate phylogenetic covariance into statistical models, a large number of tools are available, each based on slightly different assumptions about the evolution of biological traits (reviewed in Symonds and Blomberg 2014). These tools are increasingly adopted in comparative thermal physiology (e.g., Reynolds and Lee 1996, Rezende 2001, Nagy 2005). While these methods offer valuable insight upon an important source of variation in physiological traits, the models rely upon linearity and homoskedascity of the residuals, assumptions that may not necessarily automatically hold.

The analysis of thermal variables is further complicated by the fact that a large number of those characters are allometrically related to body mass. Allometric relationships must be logarithmically transformed to be analysed by linear models. It is conventional, therefore, to linearise the relationship by taking the logarithm of the allometrically related values(e.g., Kendeigh 1970, Schleucher and Withers 2002, Hudson et al. 2013). There nonetheless is disagreement on whether this practice induces unintentional biases in the data. Logarithmic transformation weights smaller predictor values against larger values (Packard 2011), leading to the suggestion that nonlinear regression may in some cases be more effective (Packard 2017). Conversely, nonlinear regression underestimates coefficient values at smaller predictor values (White 2011). Examination of allometric relationships in systems other than animal physiology (e.g., Mascaro et al. 2013, Lai et al. 2013) suggests that the bias induced by logarithmic transformation may be relatively small, and that the effect of larger error variances at larger predictor values may be main cause of the bias (Glazier 2011), a problem unresolved by nonlinear regression. The relative magnitude of these sources of bias is associated with the error structure of the data (Xiao et al. 2011), with nonlinear transformation performing better in additive, homoskedastic and normally distributed error. It is likely, therefore, that model choice will benefit from an a priori examination of the data and from post-hoc evaluations of model fit (Ballantyne 2013).

Comparative physiology requires the researcher to work with information from nonstandardised procedures that vary widely across studies. Studies may have highly heterogeneous numbers of individuals measured and degrees of intraspecific variation. Certain equipment and experimental procedures are more precise and accurate than others, and the time of the day or the time of the year may result in biased measurements. It is possible to introduce some experimental conditions, such as the season, into the analysis as covariates. However, heterogeneity in measurement error and individual variation is seldom addressed. A proposed method introduces individual variation and phylogenetic correlation in both the predictor and the response(Ives et al. 2007), but sacrifices degrees of freedom due to the need to estimate phylogenetic correlation in each biological covariate. Another method is based on a method to correct the estimated coefficients by the degree of individual variation (Hansen and Bartoszek 2012), which also demands the model to estimate a number of additional parameters. Additionally, no currently available software package allows the option to estimate common off-diagonal transformations of the phylogenetic covariance matrix, thus often overestimating phylogenetic signal.

# **1.4 Concluding remarks**

With the projected rise in surface temperature, an understanding of the thermal physiology of endotherms under both normothermic conditions and heat stress is vital to understand the abiotic challenges climate change poses to them. While smaller-scale studies have been able to discover certain connections between thermal physiology and ecology, most connections are specific to certain lineages, certain environments or certain biological contexts. Comparative analysis that incorporates multiple factors across multiple taxa is therefore necessary to achieve large-scale synthesis of this information. However, these attempts have been met not only be the complexity inherent in ecological phenomena but also by methodological concerns that render the collection and analysis of data much more difficult. It is without doubt that inadequate data is preferable to a lack of data. At the same time, it is indisputable that any result will only be as good as the data and the methods adopted in the process. When a massive update

of the data is not feasible, the necessary first step toward synthesis of thermal physiology and ecology across multiple levels would be an update of the methodology: any comparative analysis of thermal physiology must take into account the inconsistency and the heterogeneity inherent in the data.

# Chapter 2. The environmental and ecological correlates of the avian field metabolic rate and water flux

# 2.1 Introduction

Throughout the course of its life, an animal is exposed to a variety of physical and biological environments. While laboratory measurements of metabolism and water evaporation provides an understanding of the thermal physiology of an animal under controlled circumstances, the energy and water budget of an animal in the field, also known as the field mteabolic rate (FMR) and field water flux, are related to variation in the animal's environmental conditions and also to its activities. An animal must maintain its food intake for a non-negative energy budget throughout the course of its life in order to sustain itself (Nagy 1987), and a positive energy balance is necessary for growth and reproduction (Kooijman and Lika 2014). Meanwhile, the animal expends water in a variety of physiological activities, and must ingest and metabolically produce an identical volume of water in order to maintain its water balance.

Energy and water expenditure of an animal may be determined in a standardised laboratory environment through respirometry (e.g., Kristín and Gvoždík 2012). The lowest possible metabolic rate for the animal under resting, postabsorptive, thermoneutral conditions, or the basal metabolic rate (BMR), has been suggested to be associated with a number of environmental and ecological variables including ambient temperature (Jetz et al. 2008), seasonality (Cavieres and Sabat 2008), water availability (Tieleman and Williams 2000), insularity (Noakes et al. 2013), life history and food habit (McNab 1980) and behavioural syndrome (Careau et al. 2015), although some of these relationships have been questioned (e.g., Bozinovic and Sabat 2010, Bech et al. 2016). Animals can lower body temperature by cutaneous and respiratory evaporation at the expense of body water (Smith et al. 2017), and animals balance water conservation and thermoregulation according to environmental water availability and temperature through various physiological mechanisms (e.g., Williams 1996, Greenberg et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2017). Laboratory studies of water loss through excretion have shown that animals are able to modulate their osmoregulatory physiology according to changes in habitat aridity and water availability in diet (e.g., Fleming and Nicolson 2003, Sabat et al. 2009).

The relationship between energy expenditure of exercising animals and BMR is unclear (Hammond and Diamond 1997, Mckechnie and Swanson 2010), and BMR and FMR of bird species are not closely associated (Ricklefs et al. 1996). Experimental conditions such as humidity that greatly affect water efflux are also often not reported (Gerson et al. 2014), limiting the utility of laboratory measurements of BMR and water flux for predicting FMR and field water flux. Efforts had been made to estimate FMR from BMR and activity budgets (e.g., Weathers and Nagy 1980, Williams and Nagy 1984), but this requires intensive experimental and observational effort.

Field measurements of metabolic rate and water flux by techniques such as doubly-labelled water (DLW) method (Speakman and Hambly 2016) are therefore pivotal to the understanding of water and energy balance in natural environments. Some predictors of the variation in FMR had been examined in previous studies. FMR is allometrically related to body mass with an exponent of 0.67 (Nagy 2005) for endotherms, which is close to the allometric exponent for BMR in mammals (White and Seymour 2003). FMR shows considerable variability across taxa (Nagy et al. 1999, Hudson et al. 2013), and is associated with various environmental and ecological predictors such as ambient temperature and seasonality (Anderson and Jetz 2005), water availability (Nagy et al. 1999), diet (Anderson and Jetz 2005), breeding seasons (Dunn et al. 2018), relative longevity (Møller 2008) and song complexity (Garamszegi et al. 2006). Many of these variables influence both basal and field metabolic rates, the latter by also

elevating or lowering the demand for physical and physiological activity in addition to the level of sustenance metabolism. While Anderson and Jetz (2005) provided a relatively comprehensive assessment of the factors known to influence FMR, life history traits such as breeding seasons, pace-of-life syndrome and migratory habits have not been jointly evaluated along with environmental covariates.

There is a relative paucity of comparative studies addressing the environmental correlates of field water flux. Intraspecific differences in field water flux are related to sodium influx (Green and Brothers 1989), and field water flux is relatively greater through the breeding season when the field metabolic rate is also elevated (Doherty et al. 2001). Studies of water balance for fifteen species (Degen et al. 1982) and for emus (*Dromaius novaehollandiae*) in a laboratory condition (Dawson et al. 1983) suggests an allometric relationship between body mass and water flux, but this has not been verified in the field. Interspecifically, granivores have a reduced water flux compared to species consuming foods with higher water content (Tidemann et al. 1989). Desert birds have lower field water flux, alhough this effect is not seen when phylogenetic independent contrasts are used (Tieleman and Williams 2000), suggesting phylogenetic signal in this variable. Overall, there has not been a comprehensive interspecific examination of the factors affecting the field water flux of birds, or those known to influence total evaporative water loss in the laboratory environment.

In this study, we address the effects of ambient temperature and water availability, diet, breeding phenology, pace of life, and migratory habit on the field metabolic rate of birds. We expect FMR to be elevated in birds with higher BMR and in species that engage in higher frequency of costly foraging activity. We predict that habitats of lower ambient temperature and higher water availability will be associated with higher FMR. We also predict that birds with energy-rich diets, a large clutch size and the capability for long-distance migration will have higher FMR, that FMR will be higher for the birds provisioning for nestlings, and that these effects will be preserved even when these predictors are considered jointly.

We also examine the effects of body mass, ambient temperature, water availability, diet and breeding phenology on the field water flux of birds. As water efflux occurs mainly through waste elimination and evaporation, elevated water flux will be associated with an increased need for nitrogen elimination and heat dissipation, and with higher water availability. We therefore predict that habitats of higher ambient temperature and water availability will be associated with higher field water flux. We also predict that dry, protein-poor diets will be associated with lower field water flux, that marine birds will have lower field water flux than terrestrial birds of similar climates due to the higher sodium content in their diet and drinking water, and that higher metabolic demands and heat loads during the breeding season will result in higher field water flux.

# 2.2 Methods

## 2.2.1 Data collection

We compiled estimates of the FMR for 104 species from the literature, excluding certain seabirds that spend multiple days in flight overpen ocean, which makes the estimation of daily FMR difficult (e.g., Shaffer et al. 2004), and studies where only juvenile individuals were measured. Relevant literature was collected through Web of Science and Google Scholar using the keywords "field metabolic rate", "FMR", "daily energy expenditure" and "DEE". We retained only the studies with measurements on both FMR and body mass, made in natural or semi-natural conditions, where the birds were allowed to freely fly and forage under exposure to external environmental conditions. For studies that did not present a grand mean of all individuals measured, we used xyscan 4.3.0 (Ullrich 2017) to extract numerical values from the figures within the text. Units of FMR were standardised to be represented as kilojoules per

day. For studies where rates of oxygen consumption were presented, a factor of 20.1kJ/LO<sub>2</sub> was used to convert to kilojoules (Culik and Wilson 1991). For the one study (Siegel et al. 1999) where only the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> consumption was presented, a respiratory quotient was calculated from the content of the bird's diet (Pacheco et al. 2010).

Field water flux estimates were obtained from the literature for 76 species. The measurements from seabirds that spend multiple days in flight over open ocean or from juvenile birds were excluded. Relevant literature was collected through Web of Science and Google Scholar, and the keywords "water flux", "water turnover" and "water balance" were used in the search. Only the measurements made in natural or semi-natural conditions, where the birds were exposed to environmental conditions and were allowed to fly and forage according to its natural diet, were included in the final dataset. Units of field water flux were standardised as grammes per day. For studies where the water flux was reported as a fraction of body mass, we used the reported mean body mass to convert this value to grammes.

We obtained climatic information from the Worldclim dataset (Fick and Hijmans 2017). Dates of study were retrieved from each text, and we used the Zonal Statistics tool on ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2013) to identify the mean, maximum and minimum temperature, the mean monthly precipitation, and the precipitation of the driest quarter within 50km radius of the capture location throughout the period of the measurement of FMR. When the mean, the maximum or the minimum temperatures were provided in the study, we used this information. If the duration of the study specified only "summer" and "winter", we recorded the mean and minimum temperatures of the hottest and coldest quarter of the year in the location, respectively. We sampled 500 phylogenetic trees from the dataset provided by Jetz et al. (2012), and averaged these trees using the package phytools (Revell 2012) in R ver 3.4.4 (R Development Core Team 2018).

Biological and life history traits were obtained from multiple sources. When available, we retrieved information on clutch size, clutch number, migration, and diet from the original studies. When the study did not contain information on clutch size and number, we consulted the life history database by Myhrvold et al. (2015) and Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive (del Hoyo et al. 2018). When information on clutch size or number were not available in either of these two databases, we searched Web of Science and Google Scholar using the keyword "breeding", "clutch size", "clutches" and "clutch number" in addition to the scientific name, common name and the synonyms for the common name of the species. Information on food habits and migration were first gathered from the original studies, and then from Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive (del Hoyo et al. 2018). We classified a species as migratory if the location specified in the study included a population that engaged in long-distance migration with distinct breeding and wintering ranges. Most studies noted whether the birds were incubating or were raising nestlings. When the study with the breeding period of the species to determine if the species was breeding or provisioning for nestlings.

### 2.2.2 Statistical analysis

For potential covariates of the FMR, we used body mass, annual clutch size (clutch size multiplied by annual number of clutches; e.g., Böhning-Gaese et al. 2000), long-distance migration, foraging activity at sea, season of measurement, diet (nectar/plant matter/animal matter/omnivore), breeding period, mean temperature, and mean monthly precipitation as predictors. Mean temperature and minimum temperature were highly correlated (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.95, p<0.001). Because information on mean temperature was more readily available from individual studies, we only used the mean temperature as a predictor. As metabolic rates are allometrically related to body mass (Calder 1981), we log-transformed the FMR and body mass to linearise the relationship. Due to constraints in the sample size (n=104)

compared to the number of predictors, we did not include any interactions.

While the covariates that describe interspecific variation in field water flux are not wellknown, intraspecific studies suggest that the field water flux of birds is associated with body mass, diet, sodium influx and breeding seasons. We therefore included the body mass, diet, and the breeding period as covariates. Because sodium influx has not been extensively measured, we included a binary covariate for whether the bird is primarily found in marine habitats as a proxy for sodium influx. Seeds have relatively small water content compared to other food materials (Morton and MacMillen 1982), so we included a binary predictor for whether the bird is primarily granivorous. Additionally, the total evaporative water loss of birds is associated with ambient temperature, and birds from arid habitats are known to have reduced water fluxes. Thus, we used the mean temperature during the period of measurement and the precipitation of the driest quarter as environmental predictors. Because the relationship between body mass and evaporative water loss (Williams 1996) and field water flux (Dawson et al. 1983) is allometric, we log-transformed the field water flux and body mass to linearise the relationship. Because the sample size was small (n=76) relative to the number of variables in the model, we did not include two-way interactions.

We analysed the data by PGLS using the package caper (Orme et al. 2013) in R 3.4.4 (R Core Development Team 2018) with the Brownian motion model, and Pagel's lambda was set as the maximum-likelihood value. We evaluated a full model of log(FMR) against log(body mass), annual clutch size, being a seabird, long-distance migration, season of measurement, diet, breeding status, mean temperature and mean monthly precipitation for the field metabolic rates. For the field water flux, we evaluated a full model of log(field water flux) against log(body mass), mean temperature, granivory, precipitation of the driest quarter, being a seabird and breeding period. The full model for each response variable and all nested models were compared by AICc and averaged using the R package MuMIn (Barton 2018).

# 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Field metabolic rate

Body mass is known to explain the greatest amount of variation in the FMR of birds (Nagy 2005). Accordingly, we compared models containing each predictor in addition to body mass against the base model only containing body mass (Table 2.1). Being a seabird, diet, mean temperature and long-distance migration improved the base model, while phase of breeding, season, annual precipitation and annual fecundity did not.

Model-averaged estimates from a full model comparison suggest that foraging activity at sea, diet, mean temperature and body mass were significant predictors of FMR (Table 2.2). Body mass had the greatest effect size, followed by herbivory and foraging activity at sea (Figure 2.1, Figure 2.2). While comparison of two-predictor models with body mass and an additional variable suggested a significant effect of long-distance migration (Table 2.1), 18 of the 23 seabird species included in the dataset were also long-distance migrants.

The scaling exponent for FMR on the non-logarithmic scale was 0.66. The maximumlikelihood estimate for Pagel's  $\lambda$  from the best model by AICc was 0, with a 95% confidence interval of (0, 0.185), indicating little evidence for phylogenetic covariation.

### 2.3.2 Field water flux

We compared models containing each predictor in addition to body mass against the base model containing only body mass (Table 2.3). Breeding status, precipitation of the driest quarter, being a seabird and granivory improved the model, while the mean temperature during the timespan of measurement was not informative.

Model-averaged estimates from the full model comparison (Table 2.4) suggest that field

water flux is strongly allometrically related to body mass. Non-breeding birds have lower field water flux compared to incubating birds. Seabirds and birds found in habitats with higher precipitation in the driest quarter had higher field water flux compared to terrestrial birds found in arid habitats (Table 2.4, Figure 2.3). The effects of granivory and mean temperature throughout the duration of each study were not statistically significant.

The allometric scaling exponent for field water flux was 0.606. The maximum-likelihood estimate for Pagel's  $\lambda$  from the best model by AICc was 0.648 with a 95% confidence interval of (0.187, 0.927), suggesting the presence of phylogenetic covaration for field water flux.

# 2.4 Discussion

### 2.4.1 Field metabolic rate

We found that FMR had an allometric scaling exponent of 0.66. This is lower than the allometric exponent of 0.75 predicted from theoretical models for metabolic rates based on structure of the circulatory network (West et al. 1997) or on surface area-volume relationships (Roberts et al. 2010). Interspecific comparisons suggest that BMR is allometrically related to body mass with a scaling exponent of 0.67 in birds (McKechnie and Swanson 2010) and mammals (White and Seymour 2003). Previous studies of field metabolic rates in birds (e.g., Nagy 2005, Hudson et al. 2013) also suggested an allometric exponent close to 0.67, and Anderson and Jetz (2005) presented an exponent of 0.69 in a study including both birds and mammals.

The maximum likelihood estimate of Pagel's  $\lambda$  suggested a lack of phylogenetic signal. This result contrasts with previous comparative studies on BMR in birds (Rezende et al. 2002, McKechnie and Wolf 2004) and mammals (White et al. 2009), which found significant differences between phylogenetic and conventional multiple regression. Additionally, the summit metabolic rate of birds, which is the maximum metabolic rate in birds undergoing active thermogenesis, is known to be phylogenetically correlated (Swanson and Garland 2009), although the maximal metabolic rate (MMR) by exertion does not appear to be related to phylogeny (Rezende et al. 2002). Our result, however, is in agreement with Anderson and Jetz (2005), who found that phylogenetic and non-phylogenetic analysis did not result in significant differences in the estimates of coefficient value for predictors of FMR. We suggest that FMR is less phylogenetically conserved than BMR, and possibly also that differences in energy budgets associated with activity level, as reflected in the variation in MMR, may account for this discrepancy between BMR and FMR.

FMR was associated with the mean temperature of the habitat. Lower environmental temperature results in elevated BMR across species (Jetz et al. 2008) and across populations (Broggi et al. 2007, Nilsson et al. 2011). Within a population, birds often show elevated BMR in winter (Chamane and Downs 2009) and elevated summit metabolism for active thermoregulation (Liknes and Swanson 1996, van de Ven et al. 2013). The combined effect of elevated levels of BMR and active thermogenesis, in addition to an increase in time spent below the lower critical temperature of the organism, results in a higher FMR. Precipitation, on the other hand, did not have a statistically significant effect, and the effect size was not negative. This is in contrast with some studies ofn BMR that indicate lower BMR in desert endotherms (e.g., Tieleman and Williams 2000, Withers et al. 2006). It is possible that this association was related to a large number of studies having occurred where precipitation was markedly lower during wintertime (Figure 2.S1). However, including seasonality as a covariate did not make this effect statistically significant.

Food habits were associated with FMR. Birds consuming plant matter showed a significantly lower FMR than birds with other diets. Nectarivorous birds had a slightly higher FMR than birds consuming animal or plant matter, and omnivores had a slightly lower FMR

than birds consuming animal matter, but these differences were not statistically significant. It has been reported that nectarivores have higher FMR than animals in other dietary categories when the data for birds and mammals are jointly considered (Anderson and Jetz 2005). When the set of study organisms included reptiles, granivores had a lower FMR (Nagy et al. 1999). On the other hand, consumption of plant matter is related to BMR in mammals (Munoz-Garcia and Williams 2005, Naya et al. 2013) but not in birds (Schleucher and Withers 2002, Sabat et al. 2010). Therefore, the difference in FMR may be a product of granivorous birds engaging in a lower frequency of costly activities such as hovering and prolonged flight, not of elevated BMR.

Seabirds had an overall higher FMR than terrestrial birds, in accordance with Nagy et al. (1999). The relatively exposed location of their nests, along with their foraging activity that necessitates longer flights, may increase their energy demands. Seabirds included in this study (e.g., Ballance 1995, Elliott et al. 2013) engage in costly foraging activities such as diving underwater, which is also likely to increase field metabolic rates and energy requirements.

While breeding and provisioning for nestlings is a costly activity, breeding birds did not show an elevated FMR, and FMR was also not related to annual clutch size. Intraspecific studies suggest that brood size is associated with energy expenditure (Burness et al. 2001), due to the increased energy requirement in foraging for a larger number of nestlings. However, because breeding occurs mainly in spring and summer when there is a lower demand for thermogenesis, some intraspecific studies have found that FMR was lower in the breeding than in the nonbreeding season (Doherty et al. 2001). Fecundity is a component of the slow-fast continuum in the pace-of-life syndrome, where short-lived, smaller organisms tend to produce a larger number of smaller offspring (Ricklefs 2000). Because slow pace of life in bird species are associated with lower BMR and cold-induced peak metabolic rates (Wiersma et al. 2007), birds with higher fecundity may have higher FMR, but we were unable to identify such an effect. Most species with low fecundity in our dataset were seabirds, and it is possible that the variation in FMR for terrestrial birds was relatively small. However, many other comparative studies of BMR (Speakman 2005, Bech et al. 2016) did not report any association between BMR and the pace-of-life syndrome, which is supported by our findings.

### 2.4.2 Field water flux

The scaling exponent for field water flux was 0.606, which was smaller than the value of 0.659 proposed by Tieleman and Williams (2002) but still within the 95% confidence interval. This difference may be due to our exclusion of certain albatrosses and storm-petrels that are strictly pelagic and are known to forage for an extended period of time without landing. These birds have high metabolic rates and water fluxes (e.g., Costa and Prince 1987). Our scaling exponent was also smaller than the allometric exponent of 0.68 for total evaporatory water loss at 25 °C (Williams 1996). On the other hand, our exponent is very close to the value of 0.604 obtained from laboratory measurements of daily water fluxes (Degen et al. 1982), suggesting that body mass does not strongly interact with environmental factors such as water availability and exposure to outside temperature or humidity that may differ between laboratory and field conditions.

The 95% confidence interval for Pagel's  $\lambda$  did not include zero, which suggests that field water flux had residual phylogenetic covariance unexplained by body mass or environmental covariates. This result is in accordance with previous studies that found significant differences between conventional and phylogenetically informed analysis of field water flux (Tieleman and Williams 2000) and total evaporative water loss (Williams 1996) in birds. The total evaporative loss of marsupials also showed phylogenetic covariance to a smaller degree than predicted by a Brownian motion model (Withers et al. 2006).

Precipitation of the driest quarter had a positive correlation with field water flux as we

predicted. This is in accordance with previous studies that suggested lower total evaporative water loss (Tieleman and Williams 1999) and field water flux (Tieleman and Williams 2000) in birds from arid climates. On the other hand, there was no significant correlation between field water flux and the mean temperature throughout the period of study. This suggests that, even though TEWL increases drastically at high temperatures, thermoregulatory demand for water does not have a strong effect in the field condition, where birds may be able to adjust their activity and microclimate to avoid extended periods of exposure to high temperatures (e.g., Carroll et al. 2015).

Increased salt intake mandates higher water flux to maintain osmotic balance. Seabirds had higher water flux than terrestrial birds. Although seabirds often engage in expensive foraging activities, the lack of significant differences between incubating and provisioning birds suggest that salt intake, rather than activity budget, may be connected to this difference. On the other hand, granivores did not have a statistically significant difference in field water flux from birds of other dietary habits. Many birds are known to drink from open water bodies when possible (e.g., Fisher et al. 1972, Beck et al. 1973), which may reduce the importance of preformed water in field conditions. Additionally, all seven species of granivores in this study occur in habitats of relatively low precipitation, and the effects of dry climate and of granivory may not have been identifiable in this case.

While non-breeding birds had significantly lower field water flux compared to breeding birds, the difference between incubating and provisioning birds was not statistically significant. Although seasonal changes in water flux had been previously documented (e.g., Webster and Weathers 2000), season was not a statistically significant predictor when inluded in models with body mass, suggesting that this difference in water flux cannot be explained by seasonal differences in temperature and precipitation through the breeding periods. While provisioning nestlings requires higher levels of activity compared to incubation, there was no significant differences between incubating and provisioning birds, suggesting that the change in water flux may be associated with exposure to less favourable microclimate conditions or physiological changes that accompany breeding.

## 2.4.3 Conclusion

As with laboratory measurements of metabolic rate and water flux, FMR and field water flux of birds were most strongly correlated with body mass. The correlation between ambient temperature and FMR and precipitation and field water flux suggest that environmental factors also have an influence. Seabirds with high levels of activity and sodium influx showed elevated levels of FMR and field water flux, and granivorous birds had lower FMR. Breeding birds had higher field water flux than non-breeding birds. From these relationships, we can see that behaviour and osmoregulation has significant effects on avian physiology in the field. Predictions based on field measurements instead of inference from birds under laboratory conditions will be greatly beneficial for a realistic evaluation of the physiological demands of birds.

Table 2.1. Models ranked by AICc for the null model, model including allometric relations only and the models including single additional predictors for FMR. "Mean temperature" and "mean monthly precipitation" refers to the mean temperature and mean monthly precipitation throughout the period of each study.

Predictor	Log-likelihood	AICc	ΔAICc
Log(body mass) + seabird	-27.29	60.83	0
Log(body mass) + diet	-26.63	63.87	3.04
Log(body mass) + mean temperature	-31.14	68.53	7.70
Log(body mass) + migration	-33.32	72.89	12.06
Log(body mass)	-34.59	73.30	12.47
Log(body mass) + mean monthly precipitation	-33.75	73.74	12.91
Log(body mass) + breeding status	-33.05	74.51	13.68
Log(body mass) + season of measurement	_3/ 50	75 /1	1/ 58
Log(body mass) + season of measurement	-37.57	75.40	14.50
Log(body mass) + annual clutch size	-34.39	/3.42	14.39
(null)	-95.31	192.67	131.83

Table 2.2. Model-averaged coefficient estimates for FMR. All predictors were centred and normalised. "Mean temperature" and "mean monthly precipitation" refers to the mean temperature and mean monthly precipitation throughout the period of each study.

Predictor	Estimate	SE	р	cumulative AICc weight
Log(body mass)	0.885	0.048	< 0.001	1.00
Mean temperature	-0.095	0.040	0.018	0.90
Seabird	0.275	0.113	0.015	0.90
Nectarivory	0.052	0.148	0.723	0.84
Omnivory	-0.126	0.078	0.108	0.84
Granivory	-0.368	0.126	0.004	0.84
Season (winter)	-0.121	0.105	0.249	0.43
Mean monthly precipitation	0.038	0.034	0.256	0.38
Annual clutch size	0.018	0.043	0.678	0.27
Migration	0.014	0.090	0.873	0.25
Phase (provisioning for young)	0.049	0.103	0.476	0.22
Phase (non-breeding)	-0.064	0.119	0.585	0.22

Table 2.3. Models ranked by AICc for the null model, model including allometric relations only and the models including single additional predictors for field water flux. "Mean temperature" refers to the mean temperature throughout the period of each study.

Predictor	Log-likelihood	AICc	ΔAICc
Log(body mass) + breeding status	-26.04	60.65	0
Log(body mass) + precipitation of the driest quarter	-27.23	60.80	0.15
Log(body mass) + seabird	-27.55	61.44	0.79
Log(body mass) + granivory	-28.97	64.28	3.62
Log(body mass)	-30.55	65.26	4.61
Log(body mass) + mean temperature	-29.89	66.12	5.47
(null)	-59.51	121.08	60.43

Table 2.4. Model-averaged coefficient estimates for water flux. All predictors were centred and normalised. "Mean temperature" refers to the mean temperature throughout the period of each study.

Predictor	Estimate	SE	р	cumulative AICc weight
Log(body mass)	0.787	0.064	< 0.001	1.00
Precipitation of the driest quarter	0.106	0.043	0.014	0.85
Phase (non-breeding)	-0.339	0.142	0.017	0.77
Phase (provisioning for young)	-0.145	0.146	0.316	0.77
Seabird	0.443	0.205	0.030	0.75
Granivory	-0.325	0.176	0.065	0.62
Mean temperature	0.033	0.068	0.479	0.29



Figure 2.1. Relationship between significant predictors and FMR. Green data points are from seabirds and red data points are from terrestrial birds.



# Figure 2.2. Comparison of coefficient values among predictors for FMR.

Figure 2.3. The relationship between significant predictors and field water flux. Green data points are from seabirds and red data points are from terrestrial birds. In the bottom right plot, "I" refers to incubating birds, "N" refers to non-breeding birds and "P" refers to birds provisioning for nestlings.






Figure 2.S1. Study locations for field metabolic rate.



Figure 2.S2. Study locations for field water flux.



# Chapter 3. The environmental determinants of evaporative water loss in birds at multiple temperatures

## 3.1 Introduction

Evaporation of water poses important challenges to terrestrial endotherms. The high metabolic rate of endotherms imposes heat load on the animal that must be dissipated into the environment (Speakman and Król 2010), often resulting in an elevated risk of desiccation by water evaporation. Dry heat transfer by convection and radiation is ineffective when atmospheric temperature is near the body temperature of an endotherm (Tomlinson 2016). When the ambient temperature is higher than the body temperature, an animal can no longer dissipate metabolic heat through convection (Smith et al. 2017). At this condition, heat dissipation through evaporative water loss is essential to maintain a relatively stable, non-lethal body temperature.

Under normothermic conditions, in which the contribution of evaporative water loss to the heat balance of an animal is minimal, it is beneficial to prevent the evaporation of water, especially when water is not readily available. Comparative studies of birds (Williams 1996) and mammals (Withers, Cooper, and Larcombe 2006) suggest that endotherms in arid habitats have lower evaporative water loss compared to those in more humid areas when they are not thermally stressed. Populations found in arid habitats often demonstrate lower evaporative water loss under thermoneutral conditions than those in non-arid habitats (e.g. MacMillen and Hinds 1998, Sabat et al. 2006). Furthermore, certain species of both mammals (Withers and Cooper 2014) and birds (Eto, Withers, and Cooper 2017) actively regulate water evaporation to prevent drastic increases in evaporative water loss at low relative humidity, highlighting the biological importance of the regulation of water evaporation.

An endotherm must balance the need to maintain a stable body temperature and prevent lethal dehydration. As most birds, unlike mammals, remain active throughout the daytime when ambient temperatures are relatively high, behavioural adaptation against exposure to hot air and to solar radiation is of limited utility. Physiological mechanisms such as countercurrent heat exchange in the nasal passage (Schmidt-Nielsen, Hainsworth, and Murrish 1970), heat dissipation through the bills (Hagan and Heath 1980, Greenberg et al. 2012) and hyperthermia (O'Connor, Brigham, and McKechnie 2017) enhance dry heat transfer and reduce evaporative water loss. From laboratory measurements of 28 avian species, Tieleman and Williams (1999) reported that bird species from arid habitats lost smaller quantities of water through evaporation at higher temperatures compared to those from a more mesic area. However, this finding was not supported by measurements of field water flux (Tieleman and Williams 2000). Some species in arid habitats (Tieleman, Williams, and Buschur 2002, Talbot et al. 2017) display high reliance on water evaporation. Intraspecific comparative studies also demonstrate conflicting results (Sabat, Gonzalez-Vejares, and Maldonado 2009, Noakes, Wolf, and McKechnie 2016), highlighting the importance of thermoregulatory challenges in physiological regulation of evaporative water loss when the ambient temperature is high.

A tradeoff between water conservation at low temperatures and efficient heat dissipation at high temperatures may occur if the total evaporative water loss of a bird is determined primarily by its anatomical features, or if the physiological factors governing evaporative water loss cannot be modified under short-term acclimation. On the other hand, birds are known to modulate total evaporative water loss (TEWL) in response to water deprivation (Lee and Schmidt-Nielsen 1971). Physiological mechanisms such as elevated respiratory rates (e.g., Crawford and Schmidt-Nielsen 1967) and gular fluttering (Bartholomew, Lasiewski, and

Crawford 1968) allow a bird to increase its respiratory evaporative water loss as a response to heat stress. Thus, it is possible that birds are capable of preserving water at lower temperatures and dissipating metabolic heat at higher temperatures with noticeable tradeoffs.

It is necessary to jointly address the effects of heat and water stress to understand the selective pressures driving interspecific variation in evaporative water loss. To do so, we must examine the effects of ambient temperature and humidity on the evaporative water loss under both normothermic and heat-stressed conditions. Williams (1996) and Tieleman and Williams (1999) reported reduced evaporative water loss for species in arid habitats, but the binary classification of arid versus mesic species does not adequately represent the full range of thermoregulatory challenges experienced by birds. Possible effects of high ambient temperatures or of low dietary water availability have not been addressed through comparative studies of evaporative water loss in birds. Additionally, the metabolic heat load experienced by an animal is determined by its metabolic rate, which varies significantly according to diurnal and seasonal cycles (e.g. Hinsley et al. 1993, Maddocks and Geiser 2000).

We evaluated the effect of temperature, aridity, and diet on the evaporative water loss of birds under normothermic condition and under heat stress, and on the slope of increase in evaporative water loss versus ambient temperature for temperatures above 35°C. We accounted for the phylogenetic relationship of birds (Jetz et al. 2012) and the effects of diurnal cycles of activity. By simultaneously examining these three responses, we attempted to identify the environmental correlates of evaporative water loss under increasing thermoregulatory challenge for birds. We predicted that water availability in the wild is likely to have a larger influence on TEWL at lower temperatures, while TEWL at higher temperatures will be associated with exposure to high ambient temperatures. We also predicted that measurements taken during the active phase will be higher than those taken during the resting phase, when the birds have higher resting metabolic rates and as a result generate a greater amount of metabolic heat.

## **3.2 Methods**

#### 3.2.1 Data collection

We compiled measurements on total evaporative water loss for 172 avian species (Figure 3.S1). To represent TEWL at normothermic conditions, measurements of TEWL at room temperature (25 °C) were used. Measurements at 40 °C, which is close to or higher than the upper critical temperatures of most birds (Khaliq et al. 2014), were used as TEWL for thermally stressed birds. Although respiratory evaporation is a major channel of evaporative water loss for birds, we did not include studies that measured respiratory evaporative water loss instead of total evaporative water loss. For species with measurements available at multiple temperatures, we transcribed the measured values of total evaporative water loss at 25 °C and 40 °C. When the values were not reported in the text, we used xyscan 4.3.0 (Ullrich 2017) to extract numerical values from figures. From these data, we also obtained the slope of increase in evaporative water loss above 35 °C.

Climatic information was obtained from the Worldclim dataset (Fick and Hijmans 2017), and species ranges were obtained from BirdLife International (Birdlife International and NatureServe 2015). We used the Zonal Statistics tool on ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2013) to average climatic information within 50km radius of the capture location. For 25 species in which the capture location was not included in the literature, and for 23 species whose measurements came from captive individuals, climate data was averaged across the entire range of the species or the subspecies. We followed the phylogeny provided by Jetz et al. (2012) for the phylogenetic relationship of all species in the dataset (Figure 3.S1). A total of 500 trees was

sampled. As the use of consensus trees does not compromise the precision or accuracy of phylogenetically informed analysis (Rubolini et al. 2015), we averaged these 500 trees using the package phytools (Revell 2012) in R ver 3.4.4 (R Development Core Team 2018). Information on food habits of each species was obtained from McNab (2009) and from Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive (del Hoyo et al. 2018). We classified a species as granivorous if they were exclusively granivorous, or if a major proportion of the diet was granivorous.

Seasonal acclimatisation (e.g. Doucette and Geiser 2008, van de Ven, Mzilikazi, and McKechnie 2013) and phase of activity (e.g. Bartholomew and Trost 1970) influence the metabolic rate of an animal, which is a key determinant of endogenous heat load. We classified studies according to the daily time of measurement. If measurement was made within the bird's active phase, the determined resting metabolic rate would be higher than its basal metabolic rate. When the study had the objective to determine the basal metabolic rate of the animal, we assumed that the measurements were taken during the resting period of the circadian cycle unless indicated otherwise. Dates of measurement were available for 94 of the 172 species. Of these 94 species, 38 were either tropical or subtropical, where seasonal variation in thermal physiology is lower. Because of incomplete data, we did not include seasonal acclimatisation as a predictor.

#### 3.2.2 Statistical analysis

We used body mass, seven bioclimatic variables (mean temperature, maximum temperature of the warmest month, minimum temperature of the coldest month, mean temperature of the driest quarter, annual precipitation, precipitation of the driest quarter and precipitation of the warmest quarter, obtained from the WorldClim dataset (Fick and Hijmans 2017)), activity phase and diet of the species (granivorous/not granivorous) as predictors. Response variables included total evaporative water loss at 25 °C (n=171) and 40 (n=98) °C and the slope of measured values of evaporative water loss above 35°C (n=84). While measurements from 26 species reported inflection points for the evaporative water loss curves, the segmented linear regression method (Muggeo 2003) used to obtain these values produced extremely wide confidence intervals, and in some cases did not identify a breakpoint. The values obtained by this method were also inconsistent with some reported inflection point values. Accordingly, we did not use these reported values.

Due to high collinearity within the bioclimatic variables we initially examined (Table 3.1), we selected the climatic variables that were the most relevant to the hypothesis at hand. For evaporative water loss at 25°C we used the precipitation and the temperature of the driest quarter, where water limitations are expected to be the most influential. For the evaporative water losses at higher temperatures, where thermal stress has a larger role, we chose the maximum temperature and the precipitation of the warmest quarter. Additionally, we included two-way interaction terms between temperature and activity phase, and between precipitation and granivory. To make the coefficients comparable, all continuous predictors, including body mass, were centred and normalised prior to the analysis.

Evaporative water loss is known to be allometrically related to body mass (Williams 1996). We therefore log-transformed body mass and all evaporative water losses to linearise the relationship. To account for phylogenetic non-independence, we analysed the dataset by PGLS with the package caper (Orme et al. 2013) in R 3.4.4 (R Core Development Team 2018) with the Brownian motion model and Pagel's lambda set as the maximum-likelihood value. For all three responses, we first compared the model including only the body mass to those with single environmental and ecological variable added to the model. Then, we constructed a full model including temperature, precipitation, activity phase, granivory and body mass with two-way interactions between precipitation and granivory and temperature and activity phase. Because

all models included two-way interactions, conditional instead of full average coefficient estimates are reported. These estimates were compared with the best model by AICc and final model from a backward stepwise selection by AICc. AICc and AICc weights were calculated by the Package MuMIn (Barton 2018) in R 3.4.4 (R Core Development Team 2018).

## **3.3. Results**

#### 3.3.1 Evaporative water loss at 25 °C

Comparison between models with body mass and a single additional predictor (Table 3.2) suggested that body mass and activity phase were major determinants of total evaporative water loss at 25°C, with only the addition of activity phase improving the model. Model-averaged estimates with the full model including annual mean temperature, activity phase, precipitation of the driest quarter, granivory, activity phase and body mass, along with a two-way interaction between the annual mean temperature and activity phase and the precipitation of driest quarter and granivory and all nested models revealed effects of body mass, activity phase and the interaction between precipitation of the driest quarter and granivory (Figure 3.1, Table 3.3). Body mass, acctivity phase and the interaction between precipitation specification between precipitation of the driest quarter and granivory were the most important predictors based on cumulative AICc weights. This was generally in agreement with the best model selected both by AICc and by backward stepwise selection, which included significant effects of body mass, actrivity phase, precipitation of the driest quarter, and the two-way interaction between precipitation of the driest quarter and granivory. The maximum likelihood estimate for Pagel's  $\lambda$  for this model was 0.714 with 95% confidence interval of (0.322, 0.930), indicating a relatively high phylogenetic correlation in residuals.

#### 3.3.2 Evaporative water loss at 40 °C

The maximum temperature of the hottest month and activity phase were the only two predictors that improved model performance when added to the base model with body mass to describe variation in evaporative water loss at 40°C (Table 3.4). Full model comparison with the maximum temperature of the hottest month, precipitation of the warmest quarter, granivory, activity phase and body mass, along with two-way interactions between activity phase and maximum temperature of the hottest month and granivory and precipitation of the warmest quarter, suggested significant effects of body mass, activity phase and a two-way interaction between the maximum temperature of the hottest month and activity phase (Figure 3.2, Table 3.5). This was in agreement with the best model by AICc and backward stepwise model selection. Pagel's  $\lambda$  for the best model by AICc had a maximum likelihood estimate of 0.374 with a 95% confidence interval of (0, 0.753), which was lower than the maximum likelihood estimate for  $\lambda$  in the best model for TEWL at 25 °C.

## 3.3.3 Slope of TEWL above 35 °C

For the slope of TEWL, activity phase and maximum temperature of the hottest month were the only predictors that improved model performance when added to a model only containing body mass (Table 3.6). There were significant effects of the maximum temperature of the hottest month, activity phase, body mass, granivory and a two-way interaction between the maximum temperature and activity phase (Figure 3.3, Table 3.7). This result was in agreement with the final model by backward selection and the best model by AICc. Pagel's  $\lambda$  from this model had a maximum likelihood estimate of 0.813, with the 95% confidence interval of (0.351, 1), which was higher than the estimate for TEWL at 25°C but overlapped considerably.

## **3.4 Discussion**

Body mass was the most important predictor for evaporative water loss under all three

conditions. The estimated allometric exponent for TEWL at 25°C was 0.65, close to Williams (1996)'s exponent of 0.678 but smaller than the PGLS allometric exponent of 0.73 for marsupials reported by Withers, Cooper and Larcombe (2006). For TEWL at 40°C the estimate was 0.71, which was close to the exponent at 25°C but much higher than the exponent of 0.56 at 45°C reported by Tieleman and Williams (1999). Interestingly, this value was very similar to our estimate for the allometric exponent of the slope above 35°C, likely because the majority of the slope estimates were obtained from measurements for high temperatures ranging up to 50°C. All analysis had point estimates of Pagel's  $\lambda$  greater than zero, suggesting that the usage of phylogenetic comparative methods was justified. However, the 95% confidence intervals were extremely wide for all three variables, with the confidence intervals spanning the entirety of the range of possible Pagel's  $\lambda$  values.

Our analysis suggests that trends in TEWL at 25 and 40°C, along with the slope of TEWL above 35°C, are associated with different environmental and biological covariates. At the normothermic temperature of 25°C, the best model included a small negative effect of precipitation of the driest quarter on evaporative water loss (Figure 3.1), although this did not agree with the model-averaged coefficient estimates (Table 3.3). As indicated in some interspecific (Williams 1996, Williams and Tieleman 2002) and intraspecific (Sabat et al. 2006) comparative studies, it is possible that this effect connects lower water availability with conservation of water through a lower TEWL. However, contrary to our predictions, there was a significant positive interaction between precipitation and granivory. While the diet of granivorous birds contains a large amount of dry matter, these birds drink surface water when it is available (e.g., Smyth and Coulombe 1971, Fisher, Lindgren, and Dawson 1972, Lee, Wright, and Barnard 2017). As the metabolic trials were generally undertaken without exposing the birds to water stress, it is possible that the drinking habits of granivores allowed them greater water availability when water was presented *ad libitum*. On the other hand, because birds within a metabolic chamber are not presented with drinking water throughout the trial (Lighton and Halsey 2011), granivores will not be able to offset the large amounts of TEWL at higher temperatures.

TEWL at 40°C (Figure 3.2) and the slope of TEWL above 35°C (Figure 3.3) were not associated with precipitation, although there was a negative effect of granivory on the slope of TEWL above 35°C. This result was contrary to a previous comparative study, which reported that desert birds had lower TEWL at both 25 °C and 45°C (Tieleman and Williams 1999). It is possible that water conservation has a smaller influence at higher temperatures. Contrary to our predictions, birds in the resting phase showed a small negative relationship between maximum environmental temperature and TEWL at high temperatures. On the other hand, this effect was not seen for active birds at 40°C. Additionally, the relationship between maximum temperature and the slope of TEWL above 35°C was positive for birds in the active phase. The majority of slopes were obtained from measurements that extended to extreme temperatures up to and above 50°C. At such a condition, environmental temperature is higher than the body temperature of a bird, necessitating water evaporation as a mechanism of heat dissipation (McKechnie et al. 2016).

Activity phase was a significant predictor for all response variables. Birds in their resting phase generally demonstrated lower TEWL compared to birds at the active phase. Activity has been noted as a possible confounding factor that may affect the accuracy of the estimates of basal metabolic rates (McKechnie and Wolf 2004), but its effect on TEWL estimates has not been previously addressed. Furthermore, at higher temperatures, birds in resting and active phase differed in their relationship between ambient temperature and TEWL, with negative correlation between ambient temperature and TEWL for resting birds and positive correlation had not been addressed in detail, although some studies suggest that birds in the active phase

tolerate higher temperatures than in the resting phase (Hudson and Kimzey 1966, Hinsley et al. 1993). It is possible that increase in heat dissipation through evaporative water loss functions as a mechanism for birds in hotter regions to tolerate higher temperatures. Although it is unrealistic to attempt to simultaneously minimise the effect of captivity while conducting all trials during the resting phase, studies comparing TEWL at higher temperatures for active and resting birds will help elucidate the potential mechanisms behind this effect.

Overall, the effects of allometry and activity phase were generally larger than that of environmental covariates. There is a possibility that sampling bias at least partially contributed to this finding. Almost half of the 172 avian species covered in this study were found in arid or semiarid habitats, and the capture locations of these species (Figure 3.S2) were distributed unevenly across the globe. The arid and semiarid species were captured mostly in subtropical deserts. There is relative paucity of measurements taken from humid tropical birds, boreal birds, or birds from relatively cold arid habitats. Thus, this dataset may not be adequate to represent the entire range of thermal environments faced by birds, and future experimental studies would benefit greatly from sampling from those areas and habitats that have been overlooked. Additionally, although humidity alters both the mechanism and amount of evaporative water loss in birds (Gerson et al. 2014), most studies did not record relative humidity in the metabolic chamber throughout the experiment. While seasonal acclimation (e.g., Cooper and Gessaman 2004) and plumage characteristics (e.g., Ellis 1980) influence heat load by metabolism and solar radiation as well as the capacity for heat dissipation, many studies did not indicate the dates of capture and of the experiment, making it impossible to address these effects.

Table 3.1. Correlation coefficients for climatic predictors of the dataset.  $T_{mean}$ =annual mean temperature,  $T_{max}$ =maximum temperature of the hottest month,  $T_{min}$ =minimum temperature of the coldest month,  $T_{dry}$ =mean temperature of the driest quarter,  $P_{ann}$ =annual precipitation,  $P_{dry}$ =precipitation of driest quarter,  $P_{warm}$ =precipitation of warmest quarter. Values in bold face are significant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparison.

	T <sub>mean</sub>	T <sub>max</sub>	$T_{min}$	$T_{dry}$	Pann	Pdry	Pwarm
T <sub>mean</sub>	1						
T <sub>max</sub>	0.876	1					
$T_{min}$	0.938	0.658	1				
T <sub>dry</sub>	0.910	0.749	0.901	1			
Pann	0.178	-0.125	0.367	0.110	1		
Pdry	0.034	-0.217	0.207	0.007	0.906	1	
Pwarm	0.169	-0.059	0.304	0.008	0.934	0.837	1

Table 3.2. Models ranked by AICc for the null model, model including allometric relations only and the models including single additional covariates for TEWL at 25°C. AICc value for the best model was 539.99.

Terms in model	df	Log-likelihood	ΔAICc
Log(mass) + activity phase	3	-266.92	0
Log(mass)	2	-270.00	4.09
Log(mass) + precipitation of driest quarter	2	-269.37	4.90
Log(mass) + granivory	3	-269.88	5.92
Log(mass) + annual mean temperature	3	-270.00	6.16
(null)	1	-288.90	39.85

Table 3.3. Model-averaged coefficient estimates for TEWL at 25°C for 171 avian species.  $P_{dry}$ =precipitation of driest quarter.

Covariates	Estimate	SE	Cumulative AICc wt
Log(mass)	1.148	0.159	1
Precipitation of the driest quarter	-0.227	0.145	0.65
Granivory	-0.213	0.273	0.63
Activity phase p	-0.508	0.195	0.91
P <sub>dry</sub> *granivory	0.461	0.177	0.49

Table 3.4. Models ranked by AICc for the null model, model including allometric relations only and the models including single additional covariates for TEWL at 40°C. AICc value for the best model was 87.06.

Terms in model	df	Log-likelihood	ΔAICc
Log(mass) + maximum temperature of hottest month	3	-40.4	0
Log(mass) + activity phase	3	-45.65	10.49
Log(mass)	2	-47.33	11.72
Log(mass) + granivory	3	-46.35	11.90
Log(mass) + precipitation of warmest quarter	3	-46.78	12.76
(null)	1	-117.29	149.56

Table 3.5. Model-averaged coefficient estimates for TEWL at 40°C for 98 avian species.  $T_{max}$  = maximum temperature of the hottest month.

Covariate	Estimate	SE	Cumulative AICc wt
Log(mass)	1.050	0.0488	1
T <sub>max</sub>	-0.078	0.0656	1
Activity phase p	-0.174	0.0749	0.96
T <sub>max</sub> * phase	-0.161	0.0731	0.77

Table 3.6. Models ranked by AICc for the null models, model including allometric relations only and the models including single additional covariates for the slope of TEWL above 35°C. AICc value for the best model was 109.31.

Terms in model	df	Log-likelihood	ΔAICc
Log(mass) + phase	3	-51.49	0
Log(mass) + maximum temperature of the hottest month	3	-51.79	0.59
Log(mass)	2	-53.35	1.56
Log(mass) + granivory	3	-52.80	2.60
Log(mass) + precipitation of the warmest quarter	3	-53.08	3.18
(null)	1	-83.68	60.10

Table 3.7. Coefficient values for the best model for the slope of TEWL above 35°C for 84 avian species.  $T_{max} = maximum$  temperature of the hottest month.

Covariate	Estimate	SE	Cumulative AICc wt
Log(mass)	0.730	0.075	1
T <sub>max</sub>	0.335	0.086	1
Activity phase p	-0.209	0.102	1
Granivory	-0.341	0.146	0.85
T <sub>max</sub> * phase	-0.364	0.115	0.99



Figure 3.1. The relationship between significant predictors and TEWL at 25°C. In figure 3.1B, green circles are measurements from granivorous birds while red circles are measurements from non-granivorous birds.

Figure 3.2. The relationship between significant predictors and TEWL at 40°C. In Figure 3.2B, green circles are measurements from the resting phase while red circles are measurements from the active phase.



Figure 3.3. The relationship between significant predictors and the slope of TEWL above 35°C. In Figure 3.3B, green circles are measurements from the resting phase while red circles are measurements from the active phase.



Figure 3.S1. The phylogenetic tree of all species included in the analysis.



Figure 3.S2. Capture locations for avian species used in this analysis. Biomes are classified according to Olson (2001).



• capture locations

#### Biomes

Tropical Moist broadleaf forests	Boreal Forests	Tundra
Tropical Dry broadleaf forests	Tropical grasslands	Mediterranean
Tropical Coniferous forests	Temperate grasslands	Desert
Temperate broadleaf and mixed forests	Flooded grasslands	Mangroves
Temperate conifer forests	Montane grasslands	Snow and ice

# **Chapter 4. Interspecific variation of upper critical temperatures in birds and the effect of data quality**

## 4.1 Introduction

Because temperature affects all biochemical reactions, the metabolism of an animal depends on the ambient temperatures to which the animal is exposed. The body temperature ( $T_b$ ) of an ectothermic animal is close, or equal, to the ambient temperature ( $T_a$ ). As a result, their metabolic rate can be described by a thermal performance curve (Schulte 2015) that responds rapidly to  $T_a$  as well as to their activity levels (Huey and Stevenson 1979). Endotherms, on the other hand, maintain a relatively stable  $T_b$  that is usually higher than ambient temperature. Their metabolic rate is lowest in the absence of metabolic heat production above that required for tissue maintenance and of active heat dissipation to prevent hyperthermia under high ambient temperatures (Rezende and Bacigalupe 2015). This temperature range is called the thermoneutral zone (TNZ), the  $T_a$  in which an endotherm does not expend additional energy for thermoregulation.

The Scholander-Irving model (Scholander et al. 1950) predicts that an endotherm will generate metabolic heat to maintain a stable body temperature at temperatures lower than the TNZ. This is a well-supported mechanism of increase in metabolic rates below the TNZ. Above the upper limit of the TNZ, or the upper critical temperature (UCT), however, the mechanism of the increase in metabolism and its effect in thermoregulation is less straightforward. For endotherms that display hyperthermia above the TNZ, the elevated body temperature increases metabolic rates (Tomlinson 2016) and contributes to increased heat dissipation through increase in thermal conductance (Tieleman and Williams 1999). Increase in evaporative water loss, which is a major mechanism of heat dissipation for endotherms, also contributes to the increased metabolic rate (Rezende and Bacigalupe 2015). Unlike at ambient temperatures below the LCT where energetic costs of metabolic heat production is the primary limiting factor, ambient temperature and humidity (Gerson et al. 2014), water availability (McKechnie and Wolf 2010) and the effect of increased metabolic heat limit the efficiency of heat dissipation at high temperatures. When water is not readily available, or when ambient humidity and temperature renders evaporative heat loss ineffective, temperatures above the TNZ can severely limit the activity of an endotherm (du Plessis et al. 2012).

Despite the potential importance of upper critical temperatures as a determinant of the abiotic climatic effects on a species, UCT has not been extensively studied. Araujo et al. (2013) examined the thermal tolerance limits of plants, ectotherms and endotherms and concluded that the upper thermal tolerance limits are less variable than lower thermal tolerance limits across all taxa. They also suggested that critical limits to heat are largely uncorrelated with environmental temperature metrics and that there are hard, biochemical constraints that prevent adaptation to higher temperatures. In their analysis of TNZ breadth in endotherms, Khaliq et al. (2014) concluded that UCT is less variable than LCT, and in a subsequent study (Khaliq et al. 2015) suggested that UCT had a greater dependence on environmental conditions in temperate than in tropical climates, lending support to the possibility that hard physiological limits constrain adaptation to temperatures above a threshold.

The detrimental effects of a high body temperature has a well-documented molecular basis (e.g. Velichko et al. 2013), making it likely that UCT will be limited by the temperature at which heat dissipation is no longer effective. Whille environmental correlates can explain some of the variance in the UCT of endotherms (Khaliq et al. 2015), the factors that determine UCT below the physical limit of heat dissipation have not been extensively studied. The importance of water evaporation as a thermoregulatory mechanism suggests that water availability as well as ambient temperature may influence the ability to tolerate high temperatures without elevated

metabolic rates (McKechnie and Wolf 2010). While migratory species may be able to avoid temperature extremes, their capability to migrate requires the ability to produce metabolically expensive tissue. There has not been an explicit evaluation of the effect of migration on the thermal tolerance of endotherms, or whether the presence of hard physiological limits influences the lower and upper bounds of interspecific variation in UCT. If these limits do not have a strong influence on the lower bound of UCT, temperate and boreal endotherms as well as tropical species may experience physiological thermal stress.

Data quality further clouds the relationship between UCT in birds and potential covariates (Wolf et al. 2017). UCT is estimated by measuring the changes in metabolic rates as temperature is increased, and the reliability of this measurement can vary widely. The difficulty of achieving precise temperature increments in the lab resulted in some studies with measurement intervals of  $\geq$  5°C (e.g., Mann 1983, Merola-Zwartjes 1998). Some researchers halted measurement when they decided that the UCT was reached, making it impossible to estimate UCT without bias (e.g., McNab 2003). Moreover, the statistical methods used to estimate UCT (Muggeo 2003, Toms and Lesperance 2003) are not robust against these issues. Many studies simply report mean values and standard deviations of metabolic rates at each temperature instead of presenting measured metabolic rates for each individual (e.g., Wilson, Brown, and Downs 2011, Xia et al. 2013, Gavrilov 2015), making it impossible to estimate confidence intervals for UCT by bootstrapping. As a result, UCT estimates are less precise and less accurate than those of other thermal physiological variables. Hof et al. (2017) claimed that screening by data quality as suggested by Wolf et al. (2017) did not result in significant changes to their predictions. However, they examined the breadth of TNZ, which is more heavily influenced by LCT than UCT (Khaliq et al. 2014). The effect of data quality on the estimation of interspecific variation on UCT remains to be addressed. Additionally, even though birds demonstrate elevated metabolic rates through their active phase of the circadian cycle (McKechnie and Wolf 2004b), the effect of activity phase on UCT has not been examined.

In this study we address the effects of ambient temperature, water availability and migratory habit on the interspecific variation of UCT in birds. We incorporated phylogenetic relationship (Jetz et al. 2012), circadian cycles of activity, and classification by data quality as suggested by Wolf et al. (2017). We also examined whether there were greater influences of ambient temperature on species with lower UCT. We predicted that high UCT will be positively correlated with high ambient temperature, and that migratory species and species with diurnal measurements will display lower UCT compared to sedentary species and the birds sampled at night. Finally, we predicted that the inclusion of lower quality data will result in lower precision and a reduced estimate of phylogenetic signal as due to a greater magnitude of error, and in lower coefficient values for UCT due to UCT undersettimation by absence of measurements at higher temperatures.

## 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Data collection

We compiled estimates of the upper critical temperatures of 210 avian species (Figure 4.S1). When UCT estimates were reported by the authors, we recorded those reported values as the UCT of the species. If UCT was not given but increase in metabolic rate above that at TNZ was reported, we estimated UCT by visual inspection of the data, because segmented linear regression often had unreasonably large confidence intervals and did not match visual inspection. Some studies included measurements of metabolic rate above 35°C but without a clear UCT. For these studies, we recorded the highest measured temperature and whether it was above 35°C or 40°C. For all of these studies, birds were resting and postabsorptive without additional food or water provided during measurement.

Data quality was categorised using a modificcation of the scheme suggested by Wolf et al. (2017): (1) sufficient data - measurements of metabolic rate for two or more distinct temperatures above UCT with an interval of at least 2°C between temperatures; (2) insufficient data - metabolic rates reported above the UCT for a single temperature or at temperatures with intervals less than 2°C; (3) UCT reported but without evidence – studies that reported UCT had been reached but without graphical evidence; and (4) UCT not reached – studies that did not report UCT and did not contain visual evidence of UCT having been reached. Among the 210 species, 91 were in category 1, 61 in category 2, 28 in category 3 and 30 in category 4.

For phylogenetic relationship, we sampled 500 phylogenetic trees from the dataset provided by Jetz et al. (2012). These were averaged using the package phytools (Revell 2012) in R ver 3.4.4 (R Development Core Team 2018).

We obtained information on modern climate from the Worldclim dataset (Fick and Hijmans 2017). The coordinates of capture locations were available for 120 species. Measurements on 90 species had been taken from either captive individuals or unspecified locations. For these species, we obtained species range information from BirdLife International (Birdlife International and NatureServe 2015). We used the Zonal Statistics tool on ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2013) to average climatic information within 50km radius of the capture location, or within the range of the species, the subspecies or the population. Climatic variables included annual mean temperature, maximum temperature of the hottest month, temperature seasonality as defined by standard deviation, mean temperature of the warmest month, annual temperature range, annual precipitation of the warmest quarter (Fick and Hijmans 2017).

Three categorical predictors of UCT were examined: food habit, migratory status and time of measurement in the circadian cycle. Data on food habit and migratory status of each species was obtained from Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive (del Hoyo et al. 2018). We classified a species as granivorous if a major proportion of its diet was seeds. For migratory habits, we classified the bird into two categories: migrants and residents, with migrants having distinct breeding and wintering ranges. Studies were also classified based on whether measurements of metabolic rates were taken during the resting phase or during the active phase. When the study reported basal metabolic rates without referring to active-phase measurements, we assumed that the study took place during the resting phase.

#### 4.2.2 Statistical analysis

Due to high collinearity among some climatic variables (Table 4.1), we only included maximum temperature of the hottest month, temperature seasonality, and precipitation of the warmest quarter in the model set. Biological predictors included were migratory status, granivory, log-transformed body mass, and whether UCT was measured during the resting or active phase of the bird. As the response, we used upper critical temperatures compiled from the literature. Two-way interactions between maximum temperature of the warmest month and migration, temperature seasonality and migration, and granivory and precipitation of the warmest quarter were included in the model set.

For 180 of the 210 species, UCT was recorded as continuous response analysed by PGLS with the package caper (Orme et al. 2013) in R 3.4.4 (R Core Development Team 2018) with Pagel's  $\lambda$  set as the maximum-likelihood value. Using AICc values computed by the package MuMIn (Barton 2018) in R 3.4.4. (R Core Development Team 2018), we compared single-predictor models with the null model. We next constructed a full model that included all main effects and the specific two-way interactions. We calculated AICc weights and model-averaged parameter estimates with the package MuMIn (Barton 2018). Because the model included two-way interactions, we used the conditional averages. These estimates were compared with the best model by AICc and with the final model from backward stepwise selection using AICc. We also examined the residuals from the model-averaged estimate against UCT for signs of

non-independence to determine whether negative residuals were more common at higher UCT.

We analysed the binary responses of minimum UCT being above 35 (n=210) and above  $40^{\circ}$ C (n=200) with phylogenetic logistic regression (Ives and Garland 2010). We constructed a full model identical to the one used in the continuous response and compared this model with all nested models. This method performs logistic regression on a phylogenetically correlated response with the assumption that the expected value of the binary dependent variable is phylogenetically correlated. We conducted this analysis by the package phylolm (Ho, Si, and Ané 2014) in R 3.4.4 with 300 bootstrap samples for each model. We compared the models by AIC and Akaike weights due to the lack of a definition for AICc in phylogenetic logistic regression.

## 4.3. Results

4.3.1 Climatic determinants of the upper critical temperature

Comparisons among single-predictor models (Table 4.2) suggest that all bioclimatic variables were more informative than the null model. Maximum temperature of the hottest month was by far the most important predictor, followed by precipitation during the warmest quarter and granivory. Data quality was uninformative in the absence of other covariates. Model-averaged estimates from the full model set (Table 4.3) included statistically significant effects of maximum temperature of the hottest month, precipitation of the warmest quarter, activity phase, log(body mass), data category 3 (UCT reported without evidence), and the two-way interaction between seasonality and migratory status. The maximum-likelihood estimate for Pagel's  $\lambda$  for the best model was 0.434 with a 95% confidence interval of (0.093, 0.772).

Maximum temperature of the hottest month was positively related to UCT, while precipitation of the warmest quarter, resting phase of the circadian cycle, log(body mass) and the interaction between seasonality and migratory status were negatively related to UCT (Figure 4.1). Contrary to our predictions, birds measured in the resting phase had lower UCT compared to birds measured during the active phase and the effect was significant effect.

Pearson's correlation coefficient between UCT and residuals from the best model was - 0.026 and was not statistically significant, suggesting that the residuals were independent of UCT (Figure 4.2). Although negative residual values were more frequently found in the species with intermediate UCT, this can be partly attributed to the small number of species with UCT below 30°C or above 45°C.

### 4.3.2 Effect of data quality

We expected that UCT would be underestimated with low data quality because low-quality data in this dataset resulted from the lack of measurements at higher temperatures. However, contrary to expectations, model-averaged estimates indicated that UCT measurements from low quality data (category 3) were on average higher, and there was no significant difference in UCT between data categories 1 and 2 (Table 4.3). An examination of residuals by data quality category did not suggest heteroskedasticity (Figure 4.3).

When phylogenetic logistic regression was performed on the dataset including categories 1-4 (Table 4.4), three of the four models within  $\Delta AIC < 4$  also contained data category as a predictor. The best model (Table 4.5) suggested, however, that this positive effect of low data quality on UCT occured only for the data category 3, and not for low-quality data overall. This model was also the model supported by backward stepwise selection. Furthermore, phylogenetic logistic regression on the binary response variable of UCT above 40°C (Tables 4.6, 4.7) found no effect of low data quality on the probability of UCT being above 40°C, although the final model by backwards stepwise selection included a positive effect of low data quality on UCT similar to that seen for the data quality category 3 in other datasets. Remarkably, there was little evidence of phylogenetic signal for these models, with the parameter  $\alpha$ , defined similarly to Pagel's  $\lambda$  (Ives and Garland 2010), having low values of 0.020 and 0.023, respectively.

When UCT estimates from the data category 3 were excluded from the dataset, three models were within  $\Delta AICc < 4$  of the best model (Table 4.8). The best model (Table 4.9) was identical to the best model for the full dataset without the effect of the data category, and was supported by AICc model averaging. The direction and magnitude of effects were generally similar, and the maximum-likelihood estimate for Pagel's  $\lambda$  was 0.428 with a 95% confidence interval of (0.077, 0.748), which also did not significantly differ from the estimate for the best model with all data categories included.

## 4.4. Discussion

### 4.4.1 Effects of climate and life history on avian UCT

Maximum temperature of the hottest month was the most important predictor of the upper critical temperature (Tables 4.2, 4.3; Figure 4.1). Although the moderate degree of phylogenetic signal suggests that upper critical temperatures are not highly variable across taxa in relation to environmental factors, this relationship suggests that adaptation to high maximum ambient temperatures allows the UCT to increase to some degree. Morphological (e.g., Tieleman et al. 1999, Tattersall, Andrade, and Abe 2009, van de Ven et al. 2016) and physiological (e.g., Burness et al. 2013, Nilsson, Molokwu, and Olsson 2016, Andreasson, Nord, and Nilsson 2018) adaptations that augment dry heat transfer, in addition to adaptations that facilitate efficient evaporative cooling (e.g., McKechnie et al. 2016), may allow birds in habitats with high summer temperatures to achieve smaller energetic costs of thermoregulation.

Temperate and boreal areas with high seasonality in temperature are frequently inhabited by migrants. Migration elevates basal metabolic rate due to increased amounts of energetically expensive tissue required for migration (Jetz, Freckleton, and McKechnie 2008). This increases the metabolic heat load that must be dissipated. As migrants are exposed to less extreme winter or summer temperatures, the demands for adaptation to high seasonality is likely to be reduced. The negative interaction effect between seasonality and migratory status upon upper critical temperature may represent a combined effect of increased heat load and decreased need for adaptation to high temperatures.

Water availability and humidity are high in regions with high summer precipitation, which makes it difficult to achieve effective thermoregulation while minimising water loss. When relative humidity is high, heat dissipation through cutaneous evaporative water loss is more severely reduced than that through respiratory evaporative water loss (Gerson et al. 2014). Cutaneous evaporative water loss is a more energy-efficient mechanism of evaporative thermoregulation than respiratory evaporative water loss (McKechnie and Wolf 2004). Therefore, an adaptation to dissipate metabolic heat through respiratory evaporation will result in higher metabolic rate at high temperatures. Moreover, as heat dissipation through water evaporation becomes more difficult, elevated body temperature induces higher metabolic rates (Tomlinson 2016).

We found a negative relationship between body mass and upper critical temperature. This relationship suggests that birds with large body mass tends to display low UCT. A low surface area to volume ratio results in smaller amounts of dry heat exchange, which will reduce heat dissipation when body temperature is higher than ambient temperature. Reduced body size can therefore function as an adaptive response to warm climate (Gardner et al. 2011), although this response is not universal (Goodman et al. 2012; Collins et al. 2017).

It was remarkable that UCT was lower for birds in the resting phase of the circadian cycle than in the active phase (Table 4.3; Figure 4.1). Birds in the active phase generally have higher

resting metabolic rates, and their higher heat load may lead to lower UCT (McKechnie and Wolf 2004). However, studies that compared metabolism at the resting and active phase confirm that UCT is indeed lower in the resting phase (e.g., Hudson and Kimzey 1966; Hinsley et al. 1993). While the mechanism for this difference has not been examined, it is likely that certain physiological but not behavioural mechanisms are more pronounced in the active phase, resulting in higher UCT. It is noteworthy that a positive relationship between high maximum summer temperature and high evaporative water loss at high ambient temperatures occurred in active, but not resting, birds (Figure 4.1). It is possible that increase in heat dissipation by evaporative water loss is a more effective mechanism for active birds.

Examination of the residual plot (Figure 4.2) did not support the hypothesis that physiological limits constrain high UCT more strongly than low UCT. This suggests that temperate, boreal and tropical birds are likely to experience an increased energetic cost for summer thermoregulation with an increase in ambient temperatures associated with climate warming. While it has been suggested that biotic effects have a larger role in negative population trends for birds in high elevation (Milne et al. 2015), energetic challenges posed by increased costs of thermoregulation may interact with biotic effects under further climate change, especially in species with lower thermal limits and higher levels of diurnal activity. It is possible that thermal limits are even lower under field conditions because temperate and boreal regions typically show higher summer humidity than in the respiratory chambers.

## 4.4.2 Significance of data quality

The inclusion of low-quality data from categories 3 and 4 resulted in similar sets of predictors with identical direction of effects (Tables 4.4, 4.5, 4.7, 4.8), and the coefficient values and the standard errors, including those for Pagel's  $\lambda$ , were also generally similar (Tables 4.4, 4.8). However, there was a significant difference between UCT estimates from the data category 3 and estimates from other data categories. The UCT estimates from the data category 3 were considerably larger than those from other categories. It is possible that the lack of clearly defined UCT resulted in this bias. This trend, nonetheless, was not seen in any other data quality categories, including the lowest quality data in category 4, and the magnitude and direction of this effect is also difficult to address.

The 28 species that comprised data category 3 were mostly from humid tropical regions of the southern hemisphere, with high annual mean temperature, high annual precipitation and low seasonality in temperature (Figure 4.4). UCT estimates for 23 of the 28 category 3 species were obtained from relatively few captive-raised individuals (McNab 2000, 2001, 2003; McNab and Ellis 2006). Unfortunately, good-quality UCT measurements are scarce for birds of humid tropical regions (Figure 4.5). There is insufficient information on differences between captive and wild birds in their responses to high ambient temperature.

Overall, while UCT estimates from data category 3 were significantly higher than those from other data categories, several confounding factors are present in these studies that obscure the effect of poor data quality on estimating the relationship between UCT and environmental predictors. Piecewise linear regression, used frequently to estimate points of change in the slope of a linear relationship, often performs poorly even in relatively high-quality data. It is possible that estimates by such methods are, on the whole, not more precise or accurate than attempting to determine whether the animal has reached UCT by a combination of metabolic rate measurements and other aspects of the behaviour and physiology of the animal. The presence of potential confounders, along with the low performance of piecewise linear regression, make it difficult to dismiss the claim that the relationship between thermal variables and environmental covariates are robust to the issues of poor data quality (Hof et al. 2017). There are relatively few studies that include high-quality data, and a large proportion of the dataset comprise of species in warm, arid habitats (Figure 4.5). It will be beneficial to collect metabolic

measurements across a wide range of temperature from birds that inhabit boreal and humid tropical areas.

Table 4.2. Correlation for climate predictors initially selected to be included in the model.  $T_{mean}$ =annual mean temperature,  $T_{seas}$ =temperature seasonality(standard deviation),  $T_{max}$ =maximum temperature of the hottest month,  $T_{range}$ =annual temperature range,  $T_{summer}$ =mean temperature of the hottest month,  $P_{ann}$ =annual precipitation,  $P_{seas}$ =precipitation seasonality(standard deviation),,  $P_{warm}$ =precipitation of warmest quarter. Values in bold face are significant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparison.

	T <sub>mean</sub>	T <sub>seas</sub>	$T_{max}$	Trange	T <sub>summer</sub>	Pann	Pseas	$P_{warm}$
T <sub>mean</sub>	1.00							
Ts <sub>eas</sub>	-0.69	1.00						
T <sub>max</sub>	0.70	0.00	1.00					
Trange	-0.57	0.95	0.19	1.00				
T <sub>summer</sub>	0.81	-0.14	0.96	-0.02	1.00			
Pann	0.31	-0.59	-0.25	-0.71	-0.06	1.00		
P <sub>seas</sub>	0.14	0.24	0.45	0.34	0.36	-0.45	1.00	
P <sub>warm</sub>	0.24	-0.41	-0.17	-0.53	-0.01	0.91	-0.38	1.00

Table 4.3. Single-predictor models from data categories 1-3.

Predictor	Log-likelihood	AICc	ΔAICc
Maximum temperature of the hottest month	-234.76	473.59	0
Precipitation of the warmest quarter	-240.85	485.76	12.17
Granivory	-241.87	487.81	14.22
Long-distance migration	-243.81	491.69	18.10
Temperature seasonality	-244.44	492.95	19.36
Activity phase	-244.57	493.21	19.62
log(body mass)	-244.81	493.69	20.10
(null)	-247.21	496.44	22.85
Data category	-245.29	496.71	23.12

Table 4.3. Model-averaged coefficient estimates for the data categories 1-3.

Predictor	Estimate	SE	р	cumulative AICc weight
maximum temperature of the hottest				
month	0.294	0.067	< 0.001	1
temperature seasonality	0.006	0.119	0.959	1
long-distance migration	0.140	0.256	0.586	0.98
precipitation of the warmest quarter	-0.176	0.079	0.028	0.84
activity phase ρ	-0.365	0.134	0.007	0.94
log(body mass)	-0.239	0.096	0.013	0.89
Data category 2	-0.113	0.139	0.414	0.77
Data category 3	0.439	0.220	0.046	0.77
temperature seasonality*long-distance				
migration	-0.568	0.178	0.001	0.96

seasonanty(standard deviation), Fwarm-precipitation of the warmest c	ualtel.		
coefficients	AIC	ΔAIC	weight
T <sub>max</sub> +T <sub>seas</sub> *long-distance migration+P <sub>warm</sub> +phase+data category	232.10	0.00	0.42
$T_{max}+T_{seas}$ *long-distance migration+ $P_{warm}$ +phase+log(body			
mass)+data category	234.17	2.07	0.15
T <sub>max</sub> +T <sub>seas</sub> +P <sub>warm</sub> +phase+log(body mass)+data category	235.12	3.02	0.09
T <sub>max</sub> +T <sub>seas</sub> *long-distance migration+ P <sub>warm</sub> +phase	235.73	3.63	0.07
$T_{max}+T_{seas} * long-distance migration+P_{warm}+phase+data category T_{max}+T_{seas} * long-distance migration+P_{warm}+phase+log(body mass)+data category T_{max}+T_{seas} + P_{warm}+phase+log(body mass)+data category T_{max}+T_{seas} * long-distance migration+P_{warm}+phase$	232.10 234.17 235.12 235.73	2.07 3.02 3.63	0.42 0.15 0.09 0.07

Table 4.4. Models within  $\Delta AIC < 4$  from the best model for the binary response of UCT>35°C. T<sub>max</sub> = maximum temperature of the hottest month, T<sub>seas</sub>=temperature seasonality(standard deviation). P<sub>warm</sub>=precipitation of the warmest quarter.

Table 4.5. Best model for the binary response of UCT>35°C. p-values are obtained by the Wald approximation.

				cumulative	AIC
coefficient	Estimate	SE	р	weight	
Maximum temperature of the hottest					
month	0.551	0.159	<.001		1
Long-distance migration	1.587	0.704	0.024		0.74
Temperature seasonality	-0.106	0.228	0.642		1
Precipitation of the warmest quarter	-0.263	0.167	0.116		0.94
Activity phase ρ	-0.87	0.339	0.01		0.94
data category 2	-0.158	0.343	0.644		0.83
data category 3	0.995	0.529	0.06		0.83
data category 4	0.053	0.103	0.918		0.83
Temperature seasonality*long-distance					
migration	-1.225	0.545	0.025		0.69

Table 4.6. Models within  $\Delta AIC < 4$  from the best model for the binary response of UCT>40°C.  $T_{max}$  = maximum temperature of the hottest month,  $T_{seas}$ =temperature seasonality(standard deviation).

model	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	weight
T <sub>max</sub> + T <sub>seas</sub> +phase+log(body mass)	144.61	0.00	0.31
T <sub>max</sub> +phase	145.45	0.84	0.20
T <sub>max</sub> +phase+log(body mass)	146.22	1.61	0.14
T <sub>max</sub> +phase+long-distance migration	146.69	2.08	0.11
T <sub>max</sub> + T <sub>seas</sub> +phase	147.14	2.53	0.09
T <sub>max</sub> +phase+long-distance migration+log(body mass)	147.31	2.70	0.08

Predictor	Estimat			cumulative	AIC
	e	SE	р	weight	
maximum temperature of the hottest					
month	0.478	0.129	<.001		1
activity phase ρ	-0.615	0.212	0.004		1
temperature seasonality	0.134	0.093	0.148		0.47
log(body mass)	0.143	0.139	0.304		0.53

Table 4.7. Best model for the binary response of UCT>40°C. p-values are obtained by the Wald approximation.

Table 4.8. Best model for the dataset including data categories 1-2.

				cumulative	AICc
predictor	Estimate	SE	р	weight	
maximum temperature of the hottest month	0.301	0.074	<.001		1
temperature seasonality	0.029	0.111	0.793		1
long-distance migration	0.105	0.243	0.666		0.98
precipitation of the warmest quarter	-0.153	0.079	0.055		0.71
activity phase ρ	-0.23	0.098	0.021		0.93
log(body mass)	-0.373	0.137	0.007		0.83
temperature seasonality*long-distance					
migration	-0.586	0.179	0.001		0.96

Figure 4.2. The relationship between UCT and significant predictors. Data points marked in red belong to the data category 1, those marked in green belong to the category 2 and those in blue belong to the category 3. In the top right image, triangles mark long-distance migrants.





Figure 4.3. The residual plot for UCT



Figure 4.4. Residuals for the three data categories



Figure 4.5. The annual temperature, precipitation and temperature seasonality for different data categories



Temperate conifer forests

Montane grasslands

Snow and ice

Figure 4.S1. Capture locations for the species included in the study.

## References

- Agutter, P. S., and J. A. Tuszynski (2011). Analytic theories of allometric scaling. Journal of Experimental Biology 214:1055–1062.
- Albright, T. P., D. Mutiibwa, A. R. Gerson, E. K. Smith, W. A. Talbot, J. J. O'Neill, A. E. McKechnie, and B. O. Wolf (2017). Mapping evaporative water loss in desert passerines reveals an expanding threat of lethal dehydration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114:2283–2288.
- AlRashidi, M., A. Kosztolányi, M. Shobrak, C. Küpper, and T. Székely (2011). Parental cooperation in an extreme hot environment: natural behaviour and experimental evidence. Animal Behaviour 82:235–243.
- Anderson, K. J., and W. Jetz (2005). The broad-scale ecology of energy expenditure of endotherms. Ecology Letters 8:310–318.
- Araújo, M. B., F. Ferri-Yáñez, F. Bozinovic, P. A. Marquet, F. Valladares, and S. L. Chown (2013). Heat freezes niche evolution. Ecology Letters 16:1206–1219.
- Auer, S. K., R. D. Bassar, K. Salin, and N. B. Metcalfe (2016). Repeatability of metabolic rate is lower for animals living under field versus laboratory conditions. Journal of Experimental Biology 219:631–634.
- Auer, S. K., C. A. Dick, N. B. Metcalfe, and D. N. Reznick (2018). Metabolic rate evolves rapidly and in parallel with the pace of life history. Nature Communications 9:14.
- Azad, M. A. K., M. Kikusato, S. Sudo, T. Amo, and M. Toyomizu (2010). Time course of ROS production in skeletal muscle mitochondria from chronic heat-exposed broiler chicken. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 157:266–271.
- Baker, M. A. (1989). Effects of dehydration and rehydration on thermoregulatory sweating in goats. The Journal of Physiology 417:421–435.
- Baldo, M. B., F. Luna, and C. D. Antenucci (2016). Does acclimation to contrasting atmospheric humidities affect evaporative water loss in the South American subterranean rodent Ctenomys talarum? Journal of Mammalogy 97:1312–1320.
- Ballance, L. T. (1995). Flight energetics of free-ranging red-footed boobies (*Sula sula*). Physiological Zoology 68:887–914.
- Ballantyne, F. (2013). Evaluating model fit to determine if logarithmic transformations are necessary in allometry: a comment on the exchange between Packard (2009) and Kerkhoff and Enquist (2009). Journal of theoretical biology 317:418–421.
- Banavar, J. R., M. E. Moses, J. H. Brown, J. Damuth, A. Rinaldo, R. M. Sibly, and A. Maritan (2010). A general basis for quarter-power scaling in animals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107:15816–15820.
- Bao, H., Q.-J. Liang, H.-L. Zhu, X.-Q. Zhou, W.-H. Zheng, and J.-S. Liu (2014). Metabolic rate and evaporative water loss in the silky starling (Sturnus sericeus). Zoological Research 35:280.
- Barbosa, L. A., G. J. M. Garcia, and J. K. L. da Silva (2006). The scaling of maximum and basal metabolic rates of mammals and birds. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 359:547–554.
- Barceló, G., J. M. Ríos, K. Maldonado, and P. Sabat (2016). Energetic costs and implications of the intake of plant secondary metabolites on digestive and renal morphology in two austral passerines. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 186:625–637.
- Barceló, G., J. Salinas, G. Cavieres, M. Canals, and P. Sabat (2009). Thermal history can affect the short-term thermal acclimation of basal metabolic rate in the passerine Zonotrichia capensis. Journal of Thermal Biology 34:415–419.

- Bartholomew, G. A., R. C. Lasiewski, and E. C. Crawford (1968). Patterns of panting and gular flutter in cormorants, pelicans, owls, and doves. The Condor 70:31–34.
- Bartholomew, G. A., and C. H. Trost (1970). Temperature regulation in the speckled mousebird, Colius striatus. The Condor 72:141–146.
- Barton, K. (2018) MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=MuMIn
- Basu, R., and J. M. Samet (2002a). Relation between elevated ambient temperature and mortality: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. Epidemiologic reviews 24:190–202.
- Basu, R., and J. M. Samet (2002b). Relation between Elevated Ambient Temperature and Mortality: A Review of the Epidemiologic Evidence. Epidemiologic Reviews 24:190– 202.
- Beamonte-Barrientos, R., and S. Verhulst (2013). Plasma reactive oxygen metabolites and nonenzymatic antioxidant capacity are not affected by an acute increase of metabolic rate in zebra finches. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 183:675–683.
- Bech, C., M. A. Chappell, L. B. Astheimer, G. A. Londoño, and W. A. Buttemer (2016). A 'slow pace of life' in Australian old-endemic passerine birds is not accompanied by low basal metabolic rates. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 186:503–512.
- Beck, B. B., C. W. Engen, and P. W. Gelfand (1973). Behavior and activity cycles of Gambel's quail and raptorial birds at a Sonoran desert waterhole. The Condor 75:466–470.
- Bennett, A. F., and J. A. Ruben (1979). Endothermy and activity in vertebrates. Science 206:649-654.
- Bernstein, M. H., S. P. Thomas and K. Schmidt-Nielsen (1973). Power input during flight of the fish crow, Corvus ossifragus. Journal of Experimental Biology 58:401–410.
- BirdLife International and NatureServe (2015). Bird species distribution maps of the world. BirdLife International, Cambridge, UK and NatureServe, Arlington, USA
- Biro, P. A., and J. A. Stamps (2010). Do consistent individual differences in metabolic rate promote consistent individual differences in behavior? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:653–659.
- Bolger, D. T., M. A. Patten, and D. C. Bostock (2005). Avian reproductive failure in response to an extreme climatic event. Oecologia 142:398–406.
- Boratyński, J. S., M. Jefimow, and M. S. Wojciechowski (2017). Individual differences in the phenotypic flexibility of basal metabolic rate in Siberian hamsters are consistent on short-and long-term timescales. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 90:139–152.
- Boratyński, Z., and P. Koteja (2010). Sexual and natural selection on body mass and metabolic rates in free-living bank voles. Functional Ecology 24:1252–1261.
- Böhning-Gaese, K., B. Halbe, N. Lemoine, and R. Oberrath (2000). Factors influencing the clutch size, number of broods and annual fecundity of North American and European land birds. Evolutionary Ecology Research 2:823–839.
- Boucher-Lalonde, V., and D. J. Currie (2016). Spatial Autocorrelation Can Generate Stronger Correlations between Range Size and Climatic Niches Than the Biological Signal—A Demonstration Using Bird and Mammal Range Maps. PloS one 11:e0166243.
- Bouwhuis, S., J. L. Quinn, B. C. Sheldon, and S. Verhulst (2014). Personality and basal metabolic rate in a wild bird population. Oikos 123:56–62.
- Bouwhuis, S., B. C. Sheldon, and S. Verhulst (2011). Basal metabolic rate and the rate of senescence in the great tit. Functional Ecology 25:829–838.
- Bozinovic, F., J. L. P. Muñoz, and A. P. Cruz-Neto (2007). Intraspecific Variability in the Basal Metabolic Rate: Testing the Food Habits Hypothesis. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 80:452–460.
- Bozinovic, F., J. M. Rojas, B. R. Broitman, and R. A. Vásquez (2009). Basal metabolism is correlated with habitat productivity among populations of degus (Octodon degus).

Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 152:560–564.

- Bozinovic, F., and P. Sabat (2010). On the intraspecific variability in basal metabolism and the food habits hypothesis in birds. Current Zoology 56:759–766.
- Broggi, J., E. Hohtola, K. Koivula, M. Orell, and J. A. Nilsson (2009). Long-term repeatability of winter basal metabolic rate and mass in a wild passerine. Functional ecology 23:768–773.
- Broggi, J., E. Hohtola, K. Koivula, M. Orell, R. L. Thomson, and J. A. Nilsson (2007). Sources of variation in winter basal metabolic rate in the great tit. Functional Ecology 21:528–533.
- Brown, J. H., J. F. Gillooly, A. P. Allen, V. M. Savage, and G. B. West (2004). Toward a metabolic theory of ecology. Ecology 85:1771–1789.
- Brush, A. (1965). Energetics Temperature Regulation and Circulation in Resting Active and Defeathered California Quail Lophortyx Californicus. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 15:399-.
- Bryant, D. M., and A. V. Newton (1994). Metabolic costs of dominance in dippers, Cinclus cinclus. Animal Behaviour 48:447–455.
- Bundle, M. W., H. Hoppeler, R. Vock, J. M. Tester, and P. G. Weyand (1999). High metabolic rates in running birds. Nature 397:31–32.
- Burness, G. P., R. C. Ydenberg, and P. W. Hochachka (2001). Physiological and biochemical correlates of brood size and energy expenditure in tree swallows. Journal of Experimental Biology 204:1491–1501.
- Burness, G., J. R. Huard, E. Malcolm, and G. J. Tattersall (2013). Post-hatch heat warms adult beaks: irreversible physiological plasticity in Japanese quail. Proceedings. Biological Sciences 280:20131436.
- Burton, S., M. R. Perrin, and C. T. Downs (2008). Thermal biology of African lovebirds and Australian grass parakeets. Journal of Thermal Biology 33:355–362.
- Butler, P. J., J. A. Green, I. L. Boyd, and J. R. Speakman (2004). Measuring metabolic rate in the field: the pros and cons of the doubly labelled water and heart rate methods. Functional Ecology 18:168–183.
- Cahill, A. E., M. E. Aiello-Lammens, M. C. Fisher-Reid, X. Hua, C. J. Karanewsky, H. Y. Ryu, G. C. Sbeglia, F. Spagnolo, J. B. Waldron, O. Warsi, and J. J. Wiens (2012). How does climate change cause extinction? Proc. R. Soc. B:rspb20121890.
- Calder, W. (1981). Scaling of Physiological Processes in Homeothermic Animals. Annual Review of Physiology 43:301–322.
- Capellini, I., C. Venditti, and R. A. Barton (2010). Phylogeny and metabolic scaling in mammals. Ecology 91:2783–2793.
- Careau, V., W. A. Buttemer, and K. L. Buchanan (2014). Developmental stress can uncouple relationships between physiology and behaviour. Biology letters 10:20140834.
- Careau, V., P.-O. Montiglio, D. Garant, F. Pelletier, J. R. Speakman, M. M. Humphries, and D. Réale (2015). Energy expenditure and personality in wild chipmunks. Behavioral ecology and sociobiology 69:653–661.
- Careau, V., D. Réale, D. Garant, F. Pelletier, J. R. Speakman, and M. M. Humphries (2013). Context-dependent correlation between resting metabolic rate and daily energy expenditure in wild chipmunks. Journal of experimental biology 216:418–426.
- Careau, V., D. Thomas, M. M. Humphries, and D. Réale (2008). Energy metabolism and animal personality. Oikos 117:641–653.
- Carroll, J. M., C. A. Davis, R. D. Elmore, S. D. Fuhlendorf, and E. T. Thacker (2015). Thermal patterns constrain diurnal behavior of a ground-dwelling bird. Ecosphere 6:222.
- Catry, I., T. Catry, P. Patto, A. M. A. Franco, and F. Moreira (2015). Differential heat tolerance

in nestlings suggests sympatric species may face different climate change risks. Climate Research 66:13–24.

- Cavieres, G., and P. Sabat (2008). Geographic variation in the response to thermal acclimation in rufous-collared sparrows: are physiological flexibility and environmental heterogeneity correlated? Functional Ecology 22:509–515.
- Chamane, S. C., and C. T. Downs (2009). Seasonal effects on metabolism and thermoregulation abilities of the Red-winged Starling (*Onychognathus morio*). Journal of Thermal Biology 34:337–341.
- Collins, M. D., G. E. Relyea, E. C. Blustein, and S. M. Badami (2017). Heterogeneous changes in avian body size across and within species. Journal of Ornithology 158:39–52.
- Champagne, A. M., H. C. Allen, R. C. Bautista-Jimenez, and J. B. Williams (2016). Organization of lipids in avian stratum corneum: Changes with temperature and hydration. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 195:47–57.
- Chappell, M. A., and E. M. Dlugosz (2009). Aerobic capacity and running performance across a 1.6 km altitude difference in two sciurid rodents. Journal of Experimental Biology 212:610–619.
- Chen, I.-C., J. K. Hill, R. Ohlemüller, D. B. Roy, and C. D. Thomas (2011). Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333:1024–1026.
- Chowdhury, V. S., S. Tomonaga, S. Nishimura, S. Tabata, and M. Furuse (2012). Physiological and behavioral responses of young chicks to high ambient temperature. The Journal of Poultry Science 49:212–218.
- Clark, L. (1987). Thermal Constraints on Foraging in Adult European Starlings. Oecologia 71:233–238.
- Clarke, A., and H.-O. Portner (2010). Temperature, metabolic power and the evolution of endothermy. Biological Reviews 85:703–727.
- Connolly, M. K., and C. E. Cooper (2014). How do measurement duration and timing interact to influence estimation of basal physiological variables of a nocturnal rodent? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 178:24–29.
- Cooper, C. E., and P. C. Withers (2009). Effects of measurement duration on the determination of basal metabolic rate and evaporative water loss of small marsupials: how long is long enough? Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 82:438–446.
- Cooper, C. E., and P. C. Withers (2010). Effect of sampling regime on estimation of basal metabolic rate and standard evaporative water loss using flow-through respirometry. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 83:385–393.
- Cooper, C. E., and P. C. Withers (2012). Does season or captivity influence the physiology of an endangered marsupial, the numbat (Myrmecobius fasciatus)? Journal of Mammalogy 93:771–777.
- Cooper, S. J., and J. A. Gessaman (2004). Thermoregulation and habitat preference in Mountain Chickadees and Juniper Titmice. The Condor 106:852–861.
- Costa, D. P., and P. A. Prince (1987). Foraging energetics of grey-headed albatrosses *Diotnedea chrysostoma* at Bird Island, South Georgia. Ibis 129:149–158.
- Cortés, P. A., M. Petit, A. Lewden, M. Milbergue, and F. Vézina (2015). Individual inconsistencies in basal and summit metabolic rate highlight flexibility of metabolic performance in a wintering passerine. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology 323:179–190.
- Crawford Jr, E. C., and K. Schmidt-Nielsen (1967). Temperature regulation and evaporative cooling in the ostrich. American Journal of Physiology 212:347–353.
- Cruz-McDonnell, K. K., and B. O. Wolf (2016). Rapid warming and drought negatively impact population size and reproductive dynamics of an avian predator in the arid southwest.

Global Change Biology 22:237–253.

- Cruz-Neto, A. P., and F. Bozinovic (2004). The relationship between diet quality and basal metabolic rate in endotherms: insights from intraspecific analysis. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 77:877–889.
- Cruz-Neto, A. P., T. Garland, and A. S. Abe (2001). Diet, phylogeny, and basal metabolic rate in phyllostomid bats. Zoology 104:49–58.
- Cuddy, J. S., W. S. Hailes, and B. C. Ruby (2014). A reduced core to skin temperature gradient, not a critical core temperature, affects aerobic capacity in the heat. Journal of thermal biology 43:7–12.
- Culik, B., and R. P. Wilson (1991). Swimming energetics and performance of instrumented Adélie Penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*). Journal of Experimental Biology 158:355–368.
- Cunningham, S. J., A. C. Kruger, M. P. Nxumalo, and P. A. R. Hockey (2013a). Identifying Biologically Meaningful Hot-Weather Events Using Threshold Temperatures That Affect Life-History. PLoS ONE 8:e82492.
- Cunningham, S. J., R. O. Martin, C. L. Hojem, and P. A. R. Hockey (2013b). Temperatures in Excess of Critical Thresholds Threaten Nestling Growth and Survival in a Rapidly-Warming Arid Savanna: A Study of Common Fiscals. Plos One 8:e74613.
- Currie, D. J., and S. Venne (2017). Climate change is not a major driver of shifts in the geographical distributions of North American birds. Global Ecology and Biogeography 26:333–346.
- Danner, R. M., E. R. Gulson-Castillo, H. F. James, S. A. Dzielski, D. C. Frank, E. T. Sibbald, and D. W. Winkler (2017). Habitat-specific divergence of air conditioning structures in bird bills. Auk 134:65–75.
- Darveau, C.-A., R. K. Suarez, R. D. Andrews, and P. W. Hochachka (2002). Allometric cascade as a unifying principle of body mass effects on metabolism. Nature 417:166–170.
- Dawson, T., R. Herd, and E. Skadhauge (1983). Water turnover and body-water distribution during dehydration in a large arid-zone bird, the emu, *Dromaius novaehollandiae*. Journal of Comparative Physiology 153:235–240.
- Deerenberg, C., G. J. F. Overkamp, G. H. Visser, and S. Daan (1998). Compensation in resting metabolism for experimentally increased activity. Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 168:507–512.
- Degen, A. A., B. Pinshow, and P. U. Alkon (1982). Water flux in chukar partridges (*Alectoris chukar*) and a comparison with other birds. Physiological Zoology 55:64–71.
- Diamond, S. E., L. Chick, C. A. Penick, L. M. Nichols, S. H. Cahan, R. R. Dunn, A. M. Ellison, N. J. Sandersk, and N. J. Gotelli (2017). Heat tolerance predicts the importance of species interaction effects as the climate changes. Integrative and Comparative Biology 57:112–120.
- Dlugosz, E. M., M. A. Chappell, T. H. Meek, P. A. Szafrańska, K. Zub, M. Konarzewski, J. H. Jones, J. E. P. W. Bicudo, R. F. Nespolo, V. Careau, and T. Garland (2013). Phylogenetic analysis of mammalian maximal oxygen consumption during exercise. Journal of Experimental Biology 216:4712–4721.
- Dlugosz, E. M., B. N. Harris, W. Saltzman, and M. A. Chappell (2012). Glucocorticoids, aerobic physiology, and locomotor behavior in California mice. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 85:671–683.
- Doherty, P. F., J. B. Williams, and T. C. Grubb (2001). Field metabolism and water flux of Carolina chickadees during breeding and nonbreeding seasons: A test of the "peak-demand" and "reallocation" hypotheses. Condor 103:370–375.
- Donkoh, A. (1989). Ambient temperature: a factor affecting performance and physiological response of broiler chickens. International Journal of Biometeorology 33:259–265.
- Doucette, L. I., and F. Geiser (2008). Seasonal variation in thermal energetics of the Australian

owlet-nightjar (Aegotheles cristatus). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 151:615–620.

- Douhard, F., J.-F. Lemaître, W. M. Rauw, and N. C. Friggens (2016). Allometric scaling of the elevation of maternal energy intake during lactation. Frontiers in Zoology 13:32.
- Downs, C. T., and M. Brown (2012). Is respirometry a standardized technique? A review of measurement of avian resting metabolic rates. Journal of Thermal Biology 37:531–536.
- Duarte, L. C., L. M. Vaanholt, R. E. Sinclair, Y. Gamo, and J. R. Speakman (2010). Limits to sustained energy intake XII: is the poor relation between resting metabolic rate and reproductive performance because resting metabolism is not a repeatable trait? Journal of Experimental Biology 213:278–287.
- Dubois, K., F. Hallot, and F. Vézina (2016). Basal and maximal metabolic rates differ in their response to rapid temperature change among avian species. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 186:919–935.
- Dunn, R. E., C. R. White, and J. A. Green (2018). A model to estimate seabird field metabolic rates. Biology Letters 14:20180190.
- Eastman, L. M., T. L. Morelli, K. C. Rowe, C. J. Conroy, and C. Moritz (2012). Size increase in high elevation ground squirrels over the last century. Global Change Biology 18:1499–1508.
- Ellerby, D. J., M. Cleary, R. L. Marsh, and C. I. Buchanan (2003). Measurement of maximum oxygen consumption in guinea fowl Numida meleagris indicates that birds and mammals display a similar diversity of aerobic scopes during running. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 76:695–703.
- Elliott, K. H., J. Welcker, A. J. Gaston, S. A. Hatch, V. Palace, J. F. Hare, J. R. Speakman, and W. G. Anderson (2013). Thyroid hormones correlate with resting metabolic rate, not daily energy expenditure, in two charadriiform seabirds. Biology Open 2:580–586.
- Ellis, H. I. (1980). Metabolism and solar radiation in dark and white herons in hot climates. Physiological Zoology 53:358–372.
- Engel, S., R. A. Suthers, H. Biebach, and G. H. Visser (2006a). Respiratory water loss during rest and flight in European Starlings (Sturnus vulgaris). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 145:423–432.
- Engel, S., R. A. Suthers, H. Biebach, and G. H. Visser (2006b). Respiratory water loss during rest and flight in European Starlings (Sturnus vulgaris). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 145:423–432.
- ESRI (2013). ArcMap 10.2. Redlands, California
- Eto, E. C., P. C. Withers, and C. E. Cooper (2017). Can birds do it too? Evidence for convergence in evaporative water loss regulation for birds and mammals. Proc. R. Soc. B 284:20171478.
- Farmer, C. G. (2000). Parental care: the key to understanding endothermy and other convergent features in birds and mammals. The American Naturalist 155:326–334.
- Fick, S. E., and R.J. Hijmans. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 37:4302–4315.
- Fisher, C. D., E. Lindgren, and W. R. Dawson (1972). Drinking patterns and behavior of Australian desert birds in relation to their ecology and abundance. The Condor 74:111–136.
- Fleming, P. A., and S. W. Nicolson (2003). Osmoregulation in an avian nectarivore, the whitebellied sunbird *Nectarinia talatala*: response to extremes of diet concentration. Journal of Experimental Biology 206:1845–1854.
- Fristoe, T. S., J. R. Burger, M. A. Balk, I. Khaliq, C. Hof, and J. H. Brown (2015). Metabolic heat production and thermal conductance are mass-independent adaptations to thermal environment in birds and mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences

112:15934-15939.

- Frumkin, R., B. Pinshow, and Y. Weinstein (1986). Metabolic Heat Production and Evaporative Heat Loss in Desert Phasianids: Chukar and Sand Partridge. Physiological Zoology 59:592–605.
- Fuller, A., R. S. Hetem, S. K. Maloney, and D. Mitchell (2014). Adaptation to Heat and Water Shortage in Large, Arid-Zone Mammals. Physiology 29:159–167.
- Ganey, J. L., R. P. Balda, and R. M. King (1993). Metabolic Rate and Evaporative Water Loss of Mexican Spotted and Great Horned Owls. The Wilson Bulletin 105:645–656.
- Garamszegi, L. Z., Juan Moreno, and A. P. Møller (2006). Avian song complexity is associated with high field metabolic rate. Evolutionary Ecology Research 8:75–90.
- Gardner, J. L., T. Amano, W. J. Sutherland, M. Clayton, and A. Peters (2016). Individual and demographic consequences of reduced body condition following repeated exposure to high temperatures. Ecology 97:786–795.
- Gardner, J. L., A. Peters, M. R. Kearney, L. Joseph, and R. Heinsohn (2011). Declining body size: a third universal response to warming? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 26:285–291.
- Gaston, A. J., J. M. Hipfner, and D. Campbell (2002). Heat and mosquitoes cause breeding failures and adult mortality in an Arctic-nesting seabird. Ibis 144:185–191.
- Gavrilov, V. M. (2015). The stoichiometric approach in determining total evaporative water loss and the relationship between evaporative and non-evaporative heat loss in two resting bird species: passerine and non-passerine. Avian Research 6:19.
- Gerson, A. R., E. K. Smith, B. Smit, A. E. McKechnie, and B. O. Wolf (2014). The Impact of humidity on evaporative cooling in small desert birds exposed to high air temperatures. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 87:782–795.
- Glazier, D. S. (2005). Beyond the '3/4-power law': variation in the intra-and interspecific scaling of metabolic rate in animals. Biological Reviews 80:611–662.
- Glazier, D. S. (2008). Effects of metabolic level on the body size scaling of metabolic rate in birds and mammals. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 275:1405–1410.
- Glazier, D. S. (2013). Log-transformation is useful for examining proportional relationships in allometric scaling. Journal of theoretical biology 334:200–203.
- Glazier, D. S. (2015). Is metabolic rate a universal 'pacemaker' for biological processes? Biological Reviews 90:377–407.
- Goodman, R. E., G. Lebuhn, N. E. Seavy, T. Gardali, and J. D. Bluso-Demers (2012). Avian body size changes and climate change: warming or increasing variability? Global Change Biology 18:63–73.
- Green, B., and N. Brothers (1989). Water and sodium turnover and estimated food consumption rates in free-living fairy prions (*Pachyptila turtur*) and common diving petrels (*Pelecanoides urinatrix*). Physiological Zoology 62:702–715.
- Greenberg, R., V. Cadena, R. M. Danner, and G. Tattersall (2012). Heat loss may explain bill size differences between birds occupying different habitats. PLOS ONE 7:e40933.
- Greno, J. L., E. J. Belda, and E. Barba (2008). Influence of temperatures during the nestling period on post-fledging survival of great tit Parus major in a Mediterranean habitat. Journal of Avian Biology 39:41–49.
- Gutiérrez, J. S., J. M. Abad-Gómez, J. M. Sánchez-Guzmán, J. G. Navedo, and J. A. Masero (2012). Avian BMR in Marine and Non-Marine Habitats: A Test Using Shorebirds. PLOS ONE 7:e42206.
- Hagan, A. A., and J. E. Heath (1980). Regulation of heat loss in the duck by vasomotion in the bill. Journal of Thermal Biology 5:95–101.
- Hammond, K. A., and J. Diamond (1997). Maximal sustained energy budgets in humans and
animals. Nature 386:457-462.

- Hanna, E. G., and P. W. Tait (2015). Limitations to thermoregulation and acclimatization challenge human adaptation to global warming. International journal of environmental research and public health 12:8034–8074.
- Hansen, T. F., and K. Bartoszek (2012). Interpreting the Evolutionary Regression: The Interplay Between Observational and Biological Errors in Phylogenetic Comparative Studies. Systematic Biology 61:413–425.
- Hayes, J., and T. Garland (1995). The Evolution of Endothermy Testing the Aerobic Capacity Model. Evolution 49:836–847.
- Hayworth, A. M., and W. W. Weathers (1984). Temperature Regulation and Climatic Adaptation in Black-Billed and Yellow-Billed Magpies. The Condor 86:19–26.
- Hedrick, M. S., T. V. Hancock, and S. S. Hillman (2011). Metabolism at the Max: How Vertebrate Organisms Respond to Physical Activity. In Comprehensive Physiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hetem, R. S., W. M. Strauss, L. G. Fick, S. K. Maloney, L. C. R. Meyer, A. Fuller, M. Shobrak, and D. Mitchell (2012). Selective brain cooling in Arabian oryx (Oryx leucoryx): a physiological mechanism for coping with aridity? Journal of Experimental Biology 215:3917–3924.
- Hilmer, S., D. Algar, D. Neck, and E. Schleucher (2010). Remote sensing of physiological data: Impact of long term captivity on body temperature variation of the feral cat (Felis catus) in Australia, recorded via Thermochron iButtons. Journal of Thermal Biology 35:205– 210.
- Hinsley, S. A., P. N. Ferns, D. H. Thomas, and B. Pinshow (1993). Black-bellied sandgrouse (*Pterocles orientalis*) and pin-tailed sandgrouse (*Pterocles alchata*): closely related species with differing bioenergetic adaptations to arid zones. Physiological Zoology 66:20–42.
- Ho, T., L. Si, and C. Ané (2014). A linear-time algorithm for Gaussian and non-Gaussian trait Evolution models. Systematic Biology 63:397–408.
- Hof, C., I. Khaliq, R. Prinzinger, K. Boehning-Gaese, and M. Pfenninger (2017). Global patterns of thermal tolerances and vulnerability of endotherms to climate change remain robust irrespective of varying data suitability criteria. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 284:20170232.
- Hoffman, T. C., and G. E. Walsberg (1999). Inhibiting ventilatory evaporation produces an adaptive increase in cutaneous evaporation in mourning doves Zenaida macroura. Journal of Experimental Biology 202:3021–3028.
- Hogstad, O. (1987). It is expensive to be dominant. The Auk 104:333–336.
- Holtmann, B., M. Lagisz, and S. Nakagawa (2017). Metabolic rates, and not hormone levels, are a likely mediator of between-individual differences in behaviour: a meta-analysis. Functional Ecology 31:685–696.
- Hõrak, P., L. Saks, I. Ots, and H. Kollist (2002). Repeatability of condition indices in captive greenfinches (Carduelis chloris). Canadian Journal of Zoology 80:636–643.
- del Hoyo, J., A. Elliott, J. Sargatal, D.A. Christie, & E. de Juana. (eds.) (2018). Handbook of the birds of the world alive. Lynx Edicions, Barcelona. (retrieved from http://www.hbw.com/ on 04 April 2018)
- Hudson, J. W., and S. L. Kimzey (1966). Temperature regulation and metabolic rhythms in populations of the house sparrow, *Passer domesticus*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 17:203–217.
- Hudson, L. N., N. J. B. Isaac, and D. C. Reuman (2013). The relationship between body mass and field metabolic rate among individual birds and mammals. Journal of Animal Ecology 82:1009–1020.

- Huey, R. B., and R. D. Stevenson (1979). Integrating thermal physiology and ecology of ectotherms: A discussion of approaches. Integrative and Comparative Biology 19:357– 366.
- Hui, D., and R. B. Jackson (2007). Uncertainty in allometric exponent estimation: a case study in scaling metabolic rate with body mass. Journal of Theoretical Biology 249:168–177.
- Isaac, N. J. B., and C. Carbone (2010). Why are metabolic scaling exponents so controversial? Quantifying variance and testing hypotheses. Ecology Letters 13:728–735.
- IUPS Thermal Commission (2003). Glossary of terms for thermal physiology Third edition (Reprinted from the Japanese Journal of Physiology). Journal of Thermal Biology 28:75–106.
- Ives, A. R., P. E. Midford, T. Garland, and T. Oakley (2007). Within-Species Variation and Measurement Error in Phylogenetic Comparative Methods. Systematic Biology 56:252–270.
- Ives, A. R., and T. Garland (2010). Phylogenetic logistic regression for binary dependent variables. Systematic Biology 59:9–26.
- Jacobs, P. J., and A. E. McKechnie (2014). Experimental sources of variation in avian energetics: estimated basal metabolic rate decreases with successive measurements. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 87:762–769.
- Jenouvrier, S. (2013). Impacts of climate change on avian populations. Global Change Biology 19:2036–2057.
- Jetz, W., R. P. Freckleton, and A. E. McKechnie (2008). Environment, migratory tendency, phylogeny and basal metabolic rate in birds. PLOS ONE 3:e3261.
- Jetz, W., G. H. Thomas, J. B. Joy, K. Hartmann, and A. O. Mooers (2012). The global diversity of birds in space and time. Nature 491:444–448.
- Jimenez, A. G. (2016). Physiological underpinnings in life-history trade-offs in man's most popular selection experiment: the dog. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 186:813– 827.
- Jimenez, A. G., J. V. Brocklyn, M. Wortman, and J. B. Williams (2014a). Cellular Metabolic Rate Is Influenced by Life-History Traits in Tropical and Temperate Birds. PLOS ONE 9:e87349.
- Jimenez, A. G., C. Cooper-Mullin, E. A. Calhoon, and J. B. Williams (2014b). Physiological underpinnings associated with differences in pace of life and metabolic rate in north temperate and neotropical birds. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 184:545–561.
- Kamanli, S., I. Durmuş, S. Yalçın, U. Yıldırım, and Ö. Meral (2015). Effect of prenatal temperature conditioning of laying hen embryos: Hatching, live performance and response to heat and cold stress during laying period. Journal of thermal biology 51:96–104.
- Kendeigh, S. C. (1970). Energy requirements for existence in relation to size of bird. The Condor 72:60–65.
- Khaliq, I., S. A. Fritz, R. Prinzinger, M. Pfenninger, K. Boehning-Gaese, and C. Hof (2015). Global variation in thermal physiology of birds and mammals: evidence for phylogenetic niche conservatism only in the tropics. Journal of Biogeography 42:2187– 2196.
- Khaliq, I., C. Hof, R. Prinzinger, K. Böhning-Gaese, and M. Pfenninger (2014). Global variation in thermal tolerances and vulnerability of endotherms to climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 281:20141097.
- Killen, S. S., S. Marras, N. B. Metcalfe, D. J. McKenzie, and P. Domenici (2013). Environmental stressors alter relationships between physiology and behaviour. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 28:651–658.
- Klockmann, M., F. Guenter, and K. Fischer (2017). Heat resistance throughout ontogeny: body

size constrains thermal tolerance. Global Change Biology 23:686–696.

- Kooijman, S. (1986). Energy budgets can explain body size relations. Journal of Theoretical Biology 121:269–282.
- Kooijman, S. A. L. M., and K. Lika (2014). Resource allocation to reproduction in animals. Biological Reviews 89:849–859.
- Koteja, P. (2000). Energy assimilation, parental care and the evolution of endothermy. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 267:479–484.
- Kovats, R. S., and S. Hajat (2008). Heat stress and public health: a critical review. Annu. Rev. Public Health 29:41–55.
- Kristín, P., and L. Gvoždík (2012). Influence of respirometry methods on intraspecific variation in standard metabolic rates in newts. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 163:147–151.
- Książek, A., and M. Konarzewski (2016). Heat dissipation does not suppress an immune response in laboratory mice divergently selected for basal metabolic rate (BMR). Journal of Experimental Biology 219:1542–1551.
- Kuhnen, G. (1997). Selective brain cooling reduces respiratory water loss during heat stress. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 118:891–895.
- Kurta, A., and M. Ferkin (1991). The correlation between demography and metabolic rate: a test using the beach vole (Microtus breweri) and the meadow vole (Microtus pennsylvanicus). Oecologia 87:102–105.
- Lai, J., B. Yang, D. Lin, A. J. Kerkhoff, and K. Ma (2013). The allometry of coarse root biomass: log-transformed linear regression or nonlinear regression? PloS one 8:e77007.
- Lantová, P., K. Zub, E. Koskela, K. Šíchová, and Z. Borowski (2011). Is there a linkage between metabolism and personality in small mammals? The root vole (Microtus oeconomus) example. Physiology & behavior 104:378–383.
- Larcombe, A. N., and P. C. Withers (2007). Effects of long-term captivity on thermoregulation, metabolism and ventilation of the southern brown bandicoot (Marsupialia: Peramelidae). Journal of Comparative Physiology B 177:229–236.
- Lee, A. T. K., D. Wright, and P. Barnard (2017). Hot bird drinking patterns: drivers of water visitation in a fynbos bird community. African Journal of Ecology 55:541–553.
- Lee, P., and K. Schmidt-Nielsen (1971). Respiratory and cutaneous evaporation in the zebra finch: effect on water balance. American Journal of Physiology–Legacy Content 220:1598–1605.
- Leon, L. R., and A. Bouchama (2015). Heat stroke. Comprehensive Physiology.
- Lewden, A., M. Petit, and F. Vézina (2011). Dominant black-capped chickadees pay no maintenance energy costs for their wintering status and are not better at enduring cold than subordinate individuals. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 182:381–392.
- Lighton, J. R. B., and L. G. Halsey (2011). Flow-through respirometry applied to chamber systems: pros and cons, hints and tips. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 158:265–275.
- Liknes, E. T., and D. L. Swanson (1996). Seasonal variation in cold tolerance, basal metabolic rate, and maximal capacity for thermogenesis in white-breasted nuthatches *Sitta carolinensis* and downy woodpeckers *Picoides pubescens*, two unrelated arboreal temperate residents. Journal of Avian Biology 27:279–288.
- Londoño, G. A., M. A. Chappell, M. del R. Castañeda, J. E. Jankowski, and S. K. Robinson (2015). Basal metabolism in tropical birds: latitude, altitude, and the 'pace of life.' Functional Ecology 29:338–346.
- Lovegrove, B. G. (2009). Age at first reproduction and growth rate are independent of basal metabolic rate in mammals. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 179:391.
- Lu, Q., W.-Q. Zhong, and D.-H. Wang (2007). Individual variation and repeatability of the

aerobic performance in Brandt's voles (Lasiopodomys brandtii). Journal of Thermal Biology 32:413–420.

- Luna, F., H. Naya, and D. E. Naya (2017). Understanding evolutionary variation in basal metabolic rate: An analysis in subterranean rodents. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 206:87–94.
- MacMillen, R. E., and D. S. Hinds (1998). Water economy of granivorous birds: California house finches. The Condor 100:493–503.
- Maddocks, T. A., and F. Geiser (2000). Seasonal variations in thermal energetics of Australian silvereyes (Zosterops lateralis). Journal of Zoology 252:327–333.
- Maino, J. L., M. R. Kearney, R. M. Nisbet, and S. A. Kooijman (2014). Reconciling theories for metabolic scaling. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:20–29.
- Maldonado, K., F. Bozinovic, G. Cavieres, C. A. Fuentes, A. Cortés, and P. Sabat (2012a). Phenotypic flexibility in basal metabolic rate is associated with rainfall variability among populations of rufous-collared sparrow. Zoology 115:128–133.
- Maldonado, K., W. F. Van Dongen, R. A. Vásquez, and P. Sabat (2012b). Geographic variation in the association between exploratory behavior and physiology in rufous-collared sparrows. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 85:618–624.
- Mann, N. J. (1983). Comparative physiology of the Scrub Jay (*Aphelocoma coerulescens*) and the Steller's Jay (*Cyanocitta stelleri*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 76:305–318.
- Marais, M., S. K. Maloney, and D. A. Gray (2011). The metabolic cost of fever in Pekin ducks. Journal of Thermal Biology 36:116–120.
- Marder, J. (1983). Cutaneous water evaporation—II. Survival of birds under extreme thermal stress. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 75:433–439.
- Marder, J., and J. Ben-Asher (1983). Cutaneous water evaporation—I. Its significance in heatstressed birds. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 75:425– 431.
- Maron, M., C. A. McAlpine, J. E. M. Watson, S. Maxwell, and P. Barnard (2015). Climateinduced resource bottlenecks exacerbate species vulnerability: a review. Diversity and Distributions 21:731–743.
- Marschall, U., and R. Prinzinger (1991). Vergleichende ökophysiologie von fünf prachtfinkenarten (Estrildidae). Journal of Ornithology 132:319–323.
- Mascaro, J., C. M. Litton, R. F. Hughes, A. Uowolo, and S. A. Schnitzer (2013). Is logarithmic transformation necessary in allometry? Ten, one-hundred, one-thousand-times yes. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 111:230–233.
- Mason, T. H. E., F. Brivio, P. A. Stephens, M. Apollonio, and S. Grignolio (2017). The behavioral trade-off between thermoregulation and foraging in a heat-sensitive species. Behavioral Ecology 28:908–918.
- Mathot, K. J., R. N. Abbey-Lee, B. Kempenaers, and N. J. Dingemanse (2016). Do great tits (Parus major) suppress basal metabolic rate in response to increased perceived predation danger? A field experiment. Physiology & behavior 164:400–406.
- Mathot, K. J., and N. J. Dingemanse (2015). Energetics and behavior: unrequited needs and new directions. Trends in ecology & evolution 30:199–206.
- Mathot, K. J., S. Godde, V. Careau, D. W. Thomas, and L.-A. Giraldeau (2009). Testing dynamic variance-sensitive foraging using individual differences in basal metabolic rates of zebra finches. Oikos 118:545–552.
- Mathot, K. J., M. Nicolaus, Y. G. Araya-Ajoy, N. J. Dingemanse, and B. Kempenaers (2015). Does metabolic rate predict risk-taking behaviour? A field experiment in a wild passerine bird. Functional Ecology 29:239–249.
- McClelland, G. T. W., A. E. McKechnie, and S. L. Chown (2016). Basal Metabolic Rate of the

Black-Faced Sheathbill (Chionis minor): Intraspecific Variation in a Phylogenetically Distinct Island Endemic. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 89:141–150.

- McKechnie, A. E., and D. L. Swanson (2010). Sources and significance of variation in basal, summit and maximal metabolic rates in birds. Current Zoology 56:741–758.
- McKechnie, A. E., B. Smit, M. C. Whitfield, M. J. Noakes, W. A. Talbot, M. Garcia, A. R. Gerson, and B. O. Wolf (2016a). Avian thermoregulation in the heat: evaporative cooling capacity in an archetypal desert specialist, Burchell's sandgrouse (Pterocles burchelli). Journal of Experimental Biology 219:2137–2144.
- McKechnie, A. E., M. C. Whitfield, B. Smit, A. R. Gerson, E. K. Smith, W. A. Talbot, T. J. McWhorter, and B. O. Wolf (2016b). Avian thermoregulation in the heat: efficient evaporative cooling allows for extreme heat tolerance in four southern hemisphere columbids. Journal of Experimental Biology 219:2145–2155.
- McKechnie, A. E., and B. O. Wolf (2004a). Partitioning of evaporative water loss in whitewinged doves: plasticity in response to short-term thermal acclimation. Journal of Experimental Biology 207:203–210.
- McKechnie, A. E., and B. O. Wolf (2004b). The allometry of avian basal metabolic rate: good predictions need good data. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 77:502–521.
- McKechnie, A. E., and B. O. Wolf (2010). Climate change increases the likelihood of catastrophic avian mortality events during extreme heat waves. Biology Letters 6:253–256.
- McKechnie, A. E., B. H. Coe, A. R. Gerson, and B. O. Wolf (2017). Data quality problems undermine analyses of endotherm upper critical temperatures. Journal of Biogeography 44:2424–2426.
- Mckechnie, A. E., and D. L. Swanson (2010). Sources and significance of variation in basal, summit and maximal metabolic rates in birds. Current Zoology 56.
- McKechnie, A. E., P. A. R. Hockey, and B. O. Wolf (2012). Feeling the heat: Australian landbirds and climate change. Emu 112:i.
- McNab, B. K. (1980). Food habits, energetics, and the population biology of mammals. The American Naturalist 116:106–124.
- McNab, B. K. (1986). The influence of food habits on the energetics of eutherian mammals. Ecological Monographs 56:1–19.
- McNab, B. K. (1988). Food habits and the basal rate of metabolism in birds. Oecologia 77:343–349.
- McNab, B. K. (1997). On the utility of uniformity in the definition of basal rate of metabolism. Physiological Zoology 70:718–720.
- McNab, B. K. (2003). The energetics of New Zealand's ducks. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 135:229–247.
- McNab, B. K. (2009). Ecological factors affect the level and scaling of avian BMR. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 152:22–45.
- McNab, B. K. (2016a). Avian energetics: the passerine/non-passerine dichotomy. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 191:152–155.
- McNab, B. K. (2016b). Analysis of factors that influence energy expenditure in honeyeaters (Meliphagidae). New Zealand Journal of Zoology 43:179–190.
- McNab, B. K., and H. I. Ellis (2006). Flightless rails endemic to islands have lower energy expenditures and clutch sizes than flighted rails on islands and continents. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 145:295–311.
- Merola-Zwartjes, M. (1998). Metabolic rate, temperature regulation, and the energetic

implications of roost nests in the bananaquit (Coereba flaveola). The Auk 115:780-786

- Milne, R., S. J. Cunningham, A. T. K. Lee, and B. Smit (2015). The role of thermal physiology in recent declines of birds in a biodiversity hotspot. Conservation Physiology 3.
- Mitchell, D., A. Fuller, and S. K. Maloney (2009). Homeothermy and primate bipedalism: is water shortage or solar radiation the main threat to baboon (Papio hamadryas) homeothermy? Journal of Human Evolution 56:439–446.
- Mora, C., B. Dousset, I. R. Caldwell, F. E. Powell, R. C. Geronimo, C. R. Bielecki, C. W. Counsell, B. S. Dietrich, E. T. Johnston, L. V. Louis, and others (2017). Global risk of deadly heat. Nature Climate Change 7:501–506.
- Morton, S. R., and R. E. MacMillen (1982). Seeds as sources of preformed water for desertdwelling granivores. Journal of Arid Environments 5:61–67.
- Moses, M. R., J. K. Frey, and G. W. Roemer (2012). Elevated surface temperature depresses survival of banner-tailed kangaroo rats: will climate change cook a desert icon? Oecologia 168:257–268.
- Møller, A. P. (2008). Relative longevity and field metabolic rate in birds. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 21:1379–1386.
- Muggeo, V. M. R. (2003). Estimating regression models with unknown break-points. Statistics in Medicine 22:3055–3071.
- Muñoz-Garcia, A., and J. B. Williams (2005). Basal metabolic rate inn carnivores is associated with diet after controlling for phylogeny. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 78:1039–1056.
- Munoz-Garcia, A., and J. B. Williams (2007). Cutaneous water loss and lipids of the stratum corneum in dusky antbirds, a lowland tropical bird. Condor 109:59–66.
- Muñoz-Garcia, A., R. M. Cox, and J. B. Williams (2008). Phenotypic flexibility in cutaneous water loss and lipids of the stratum corneum in house sparrows (Passer domesticus) following acclimation to high and low humidity. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 81:87–96.
- Myhrvold, N. P., E. Baldridge, B. Chan, D. Sivam, D. L. Freeman, and S. K. M. Ernest (2015). An amniote life-history database to perform comparative analyses with birds, mammals, and reptiles. Ecology 96:3109–3109.
- Nadeau, C. P., M. C. Urban, and J. R. Bridle (2017). Coarse climate change projections for species living in a fine-scaled world. Global change biology 23:12–24.
- Nagy, K. A. (1987). Field metabolic rate and food requirement scaling in mammals and birds. Ecological Monographs 57:111–128.
- Nagy, K. A. (2005). Field metabolic rate and body size. Journal of Experimental Biology 208:1621–1625.
- Nagy, K. A., I. A. Girard, and T. K. Brown (1999). Energetics of free-ranging mammals, reptiles, and birds. Annual Review of Nutrition 19:247–277.
- Naya, D. E., L. Spangenberg, H. Naya, and F. Bozinovic (2013). How does evolutionary variation in basal metabolic rates arise? A statistical assessment and a mechanistic model. Evolution 67:1463–1476.
- Nespolo, R. F., and M. Franco (2007). Whole-animal metabolic rate is a repeatable trait: a metaanalysis. Journal of Experimental Biology 210:2000–2005.
- Nespolo, R. F., J. J. Solano-Iguaran, and F. Bozinovic (2016). Phylogenetic Analysis Supports the Aerobic-Capacity Model for the Evolution of Endothermy. The American Naturalist 189:13–27.
- Nickerson, D. M., D. E. Facey, and G. D. Grossman (1989). Estimating physiological thresholds with continuous two-phase regression. Physiological Zoology 62:866–887.
- Nilsson, A. L., J.-A. Nilsson, and T. Alerstam (2011). Basal metabolic rate and energetic cost of thermoregulation among migratory and resident blue tits. Oikos 120:1784–1789.

- Nilsson, J.-Å. (2002). Metabolic consequences of hard work. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 269:1735–1739.
- Nilsson, J.-A., M. N. Molokwu, and O. Olsson (2016). Body temperature regulation in hot environments. Plos One 11:e0161481.
- Noakes, M. J., B. O. Wolf, and A. E. McKechnie (2016a). Seasonal and geographical variation in heat tolerance and evaporative cooling capacity in a passerine bird. Journal of Experimental Biology:jeb.132001.
- Noakes, M. J., B. O. Wolf, and A. E. McKechnie (2016b). Seasonal metabolic acclimatization varies in direction and magnitude among populations of an Afrotropical passerine Bird. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 90:178–189.
- Noakes, M. J., B. Smit, B. O. Wolf, and A. E. McKechnie (2013). Thermoregulation in African green pigeons (*Treron calvus*) and a re-analysis of insular effects on basal metabolic rate and heterothermy in columbid birds. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 183:969–982.
- Ockendon, N., D. J. Baker, J. A. Carr, E. C. White, R. E. A. Almond, T. Amano, E. Bertram, R.
  B. Bradbury, C. Bradley, S. H. M. Butchart, N. Doswald, et al. (2014). Mechanisms underpinning climatic impacts on natural populations: altered species interactions are more important than direct effects. Global Change Biology 20:2221–2229.
- O'Connor, M. P., S. J. Kemp, S. J. Agosta, F. Hansen, A. E. Sieg, B. P. Wallace, J. N. McNair, and A. E. Dunham (2007). Reconsidering the mechanistic basis of the metabolic theory of ecology. Oikos 116:1058–1072.
- O'Connor, R. S., R. M. Brigham, and A. E. McKechnie (2017). Diurnal body temperature patterns in free-ranging populations of two southern African arid-zone nightjars. Journal of Avian Biology 48:1195–1204.
- Olson, D. M., E. Dinerstein, E. D. Wikramanayake, N. D. Burgess, G. V. N. Powell, E. C. Underwood, J. A. D'amico, I. Itoua, H. E. Strand, J. C. Morrison, C. J. Loucks, et al. (2001). Terrestrial ecoregions of the world: A new map of life on Earth. BioScience 51:933–938.
- Orme, D., R. Freckleton, G. Thomas, T. Petzoldt, S, Fritz, N, Isaac and W, Pearse. (2013) caper: Comparative Analyses of Phylogenetics and Evolution in R. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=caper</u>
- Ostrowski, S., J. B. Williams, and K. Ismael (2003). Heterothermy and the water economy of free-living Arabian oryx (Oryx leucoryx). Journal of Experimental Biology 206:1471–1478.
- Oswald, S. A., S. Bearhop, R. W. Furness, B. Huntley, and K. C. Hamer (2008). Heat stress in a high-latitude seabird: effects of temperature and food supply on bathing and nest attendance of great skuas Catharacta skua. Journal of Avian Biology 39:163–169.
- Oswald, S. A., B. Huntley, Y. C. Collingham, D. J. Russell, B. J. Anderson, J. M. Arnold, R. W. Furness, and K. C. Hamer (2011). Physiological effects of climate on distributions of endothermic species. Journal of Biogeography 38:430–438.
- Pacheco, M. A., S. R. Beissinger, and C. Bosque (2010). Why grow slowly in a dangerous place? Postnatal growth, thermoregulation, and energetics of nestling green-rumped parrotlets (Forpus passerinus). The Auk 127:558–570.
- Packard, G. C. (2011). Rotational distortion in conventional allometric analyses. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 159:392– 400.
- Packard, G. C. (2017). Is complex allometry in field metabolic rates of mammals a statistical artifact? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 203:322–327.
- Packard, G. C., and G. F. Birchard (2008). Traditional allometric analysis fails to provide a

valid predictive model for mammalian metabolic rates. Journal of Experimental Biology 211:3581–3587.

- Page, A. J., C. E. Cooper, and P. C. Withers (2011). Effects of experiment start time and duration on measurement of standard physiological variables. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 181:657–665.
- Pap, P. L., C. I. Vágási, O. Vincze, G. Osváth, J. Veres-Szászka, and G. Á. Czirják (2015). Physiological pace of life: the link between constitutive immunity, developmental period, and metabolic rate in European birds. Oecologia 177:147–158.
- Pearce-Higgins, J. W., S. M. Eglington, B. Martay, and D. E. Chamberlain (2015). Drivers of climate change impacts on bird communities. Journal of Animal Ecology 84:943–954.
- Peña-Villalobos, I., M. Nuñez-Villegas, F. Bozinovic, and P. Sabat (2014). Metabolic enzymes in seasonally acclimatized and cold acclimated rufous-collared sparrow inhabiting a Chilean Mediterranean environment. Current Zoology 60:338–350.
- Petit, M., A. Lewden, and F. Vézina (2013). Intra-seasonal flexibility in avian metabolic performance highlights the uncoupling of basal metabolic rate and thermogenic capacity. PLOS ONE 8:e68292.
- Petit, M., and F. Vézina (2014). Reaction norms in natural conditions: how does metabolic performance respond to weather variations in a small endotherm facing cold environments? PLOS ONE 9:e113617.
- du Plessis, K. L., R. O. Martin, P. A. R. Hockey, S. J. Cunningham, and A. R. Ridley (2012). The costs of keeping cool in a warming world: implications of high temperatures for foraging, thermoregulation and body condition of an arid-zone bird. Global Change Biology 18:3063–3070.
- Porter, W. P., and M. Kearney (2009). Size, shape, and the thermal niche of endotherms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106:19666–19672.
- R Core Development Team. (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Revell, L. J. (2012). phytools: an R package for phylogenetic comparative biology (and other things). Methods in Ecology and Evolution 3:217–223.
- Reynolds, P. S., and R. M. Lee III (1996). Phylogenetic analysis of avian energetics: passerines and nonpasserines do not differ. The American Naturalist 147:735–759.
- Rezende, E. L., and L. D. Bacigalupe (2015). Thermoregulation in endotherms: physiological principles and ecological consequences. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 185:709–727.
- Rezende, E. L., D. L. Swanson, F. F. Novoa, and F. Bozinovic (2002). Passerines versus nonpasserines: so far, no statistical differences in the scaling of avian energetics. Journal of Experimental Biology 205:101–107.
- Ricklefs, R. E. (2000). Density dependence, evolutionary optimization, and the diversification of avian life histories. The Condor 102:9–22.
- Ricklefs, R. E., M. Konarzewski, and S. Daan (1996). The relationship between basal metabolic rate and daily energy expenditure in birds and mammals. The American Naturalist 147:1047–1071.
- Ricklefs, R. E., and M. Wikelski (2002). The physiology/life-history nexus. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17:462–468.
- Roberts, M. F., E. N. Lightfoot, and W. P. Porter (2010). A new model for the body sizemetabolism relationship. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 83:395–405.
- Robertshaw, D. (2006). Mechanisms for the control of respiratory evaporative heat loss in panting animals. Journal of Applied Physiology 101:664–668.
- Robertson, B. A. (2009). Nest-Site Selection in a Postfire Landscape: Do Parents Make Tradeoffs Between Microclimate and Predation Risk? Auk 126:500–510.

- Rodriguez, S., and E. Barba (2016). Nestling Growth is Impaired by Heat Stress: an Experimental Study in a Mediterranean Great Tit Population. Zoological Studies 55:40.
- Rønning, B., J. Broggi, C. Bech, B. Moe, T. H. Ringsby, H. Pärn, I. J. Hagen, B.-E. Sæther, and H. Jensen (2016). Is basal metabolic rate associated with recruit production and survival in free-living house sparrows? Functional Ecology 30:1140–1148.
- Rønning, B., H. Jensen, B. Moe, and C. Bech (2007). Basal metabolic rate: heritability and genetic correlations with morphological traits in the zebra finch. Journal of evolutionary biology 20:1815–1822.
- Rønning, B., B. Moe, and C. Bech (2005). Long-term repeatability makes basal metabolic rate a likely heritable trait in the zebra finch Taeniopygia guttata. Journal of Experimental Biology 208:4663–4669.
- Rønning, B., B. Moe, H. H. Berntsen, E. Noreen, and C. Bech (2014). Is the Rate of Metabolic Ageing and Survival Determined by Basal Metabolic Rate in the Zebra Finch? PLOS ONE 9:e108675.
- Røskaft, E., T. Järvi, M. Bakken, C. Bech, and R. E. Reinertsen (1986). The relationship between social status and resting metabolic rate in great tits (Parus major) and pied flycatchers (Ficedula hypoleuca). Animal Behaviour 34:838–842.
- Ruben, J. (1995). The Evolution of Endothermy in Mammals and Birds from Physiology to Fossils. Annual Review of Physiology 57:69–95.
- Rubolini, D., A. Liker, L. Z. Garamszegi, A. P. Moller, and N. Saino (2015). Using the BirdTree.org website to obtain robust phylogenies for avian comparative studies: A primer. Current Zoology 61:959–965.
- Sabat, P., G. Cavieres, C. Veloso, and M. Canals (2006). Water and energy economy of an omnivorous bird: Population differences in the Rufous-collared sparrow (Zonotrichia capensis). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 144:485–490.
- Sabat, P., N. Ramirez-Otarola, G. Barceló, J. Salinas, and F. Bozinovic (2010). Comparative basal metabolic rate among passerines and the food habit hypothesis. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 157:35–40.
- Sabat, P., S. Gonzalez-Vejares, and K. Maldonado (2009). Diet and habitat aridity affect osmoregulatory physiology: An intraspecific field study along environmental gradients in the Rufous-collared sparrow. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 152:322–326.
- Sadowska, E. T., K. Baliga-Klimczyk, M. K. Labocha, and P. Koteja (2009). Genetic Correlations in a Wild Rodent: Grass-Eaters and Fast-Growers Evolve High Basal Metabolic Rates. Evolution 63:1530–1539.
- Sadowska, E. T., E. Król, K. M. Chrzascik, A. M. Rudolf, J. R. Speakman, and P. Koteja (2016). Limits to sustained energy intake. XXIII. Does heat dissipation capacity limit the energy budget of lactating bank voles? Journal of Experimental Biology 219:805–815.
- Sadowska, E. T., C. Stawski, A. Rudolf, G. Dheyongera, K. M. Chrząścik, K. Baliga-Klimczyk, and P. Koteja (2015). Evolution of basal metabolic rate in bank voles from a multidirectional selection experiment. Proc. R. Soc. B. The Royal Society, p. 20150025.
- Sadowska, J., A. K. Gębczyński, and M. Konarzewski (2013). Basal metabolic rate is positively correlated with parental investment in laboratory mice. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 280:20122576.
- Salaberria, C., P. Celis, I. Lopez-Rull, and D. Gil (2014). Effects of temperature and nest heat exposure on nestling growth, dehydration and survival in a Mediterranean hole-nesting passerine. Ibis 156:265–275.
- van Sant, M. J., C. E. Oufiero, A. Munoz-Garcia, K. A. Hammond, and J. B. Williams (2012). A Phylogenetic Approach to Total Evaporative Water Loss in Mammals. Physiological

and Biochemical Zoology 85:526–532.

- Savage, V. M., E. J. Deeds, and W. Fontana (2008). Sizing up allometric scaling theory. PLoS computational biology 4:e1000171.
- Savage, V. M., J. F. Gillooly, W. H. Woodruff, G. B. West, A. P. Allen, B. J. Enquist, and J. H. Brown (2004). The predominance of quarter-power scaling in biology. Functional Ecology 18:257–282.
- Schleucher, E., and P. C. Withers (2002). Metabolic and thermal physiology of pigeons and doves Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 75:439–450.
- Schmidt-Nielsen, K., F. R. Hainsworth, and D. E. Murrish (1970). Counter-current heat exchange in the respiratory passages: effect on water and heat balance. Respiration physiology 9:263–276.
- Scholander, P. F., R. Hock, V. Walters, F. Johnson, and L. Irving (1950). Heat regulation in some Arctic and tropical mammals and birds. Biological Bulletin 99:237–258.
- Schulte, P. M. (2015). The effects of temperature on aerobic metabolism: towards a mechanistic understanding of the responses of ectotherms to a changing environment. Journal of Experimental Biology 218:1856–1866.
- Senar, J. C., V. Polo, F. Uribe, and M. Camerino (2000). Status signalling, metabolic rate and body mass in the siskin: the cost of being a subordinate. Animal Behaviour 59:103–110.
- Shaffer, S. A., D. P. Costa, and H. Weimerskirch (2004). Field metabolic rates of black-browed albatrosses *Thalassarche melanophrys* during the incubation stage. Journal of Avian Biology 35:551–558.
- Shestopaloff, Y. K. (2016). Metabolic allometric scaling model: combining cellular transportation and heat dissipation constraints. Journal of Experimental Biology 219:2481–2489.
- Šíchová, K., E. Koskela, T. Mappes, P. Lantová, and Z. Boratyński (2014). On personality, energy metabolism and mtDNA introgression in bank voles. Animal Behaviour 92:229–237.
- Sieg, A. E., M. P. O'Connor, J. N. McNair, B. W. Grant, S. J. Agosta, and A. E. Dunham (2009). Mammalian metabolic allometry: do intraspecific variation, phylogeny, and regression models matter? The American Naturalist 174:720–733.
- Siegel, R. B., W. W. Weathers, and S. R. Beissinger (1999). Assessing parental effort in a Neotropical parrot: a comparison of methods. Animal Behaviour 57:73–79.
- Sih, A., A. Bell, and J. C. Johnson (2004). Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. Trends in ecology & evolution 19:372–378.
- Smith, E. K., J. J. O'Neill, A. R. Gerson, A. E. McKechnie, and B. O. Wolf (2017). Avian thermoregulation in the heat: resting metabolism, evaporative cooling and heat tolerance in Sonoran desert songbirds. Journal of Experimental Biology 220:3290– 3300.
- Smyth, M., and H. N. Coulombe (1971). Notes on the use of desert Springs by birds in California. The Condor 73:240–243.
- Speakman, J. R. (1998). The history and theory of the doubly labeled water technique. The American journal of clinical nutrition 68:932S–938S.
- Speakman, J. R. (2005). Body size, energy metabolism and lifespan. Journal of Experimental Biology 208:1717–1730.
- Speakman, J. R., and C. Hambly (2016). Using doubly-labelled water to measure free-living energy expenditure: Some old things to remember and some new things to consider. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 202:3–9.
- Speakman, J. R., and E. Król (2010a). Maximal heat dissipation capacity and hyperthermia risk: neglected key factors in the ecology of endotherms. Journal of Animal Ecology

79:726-746.

- Speakman, J. R., and E. Król (2010b). The heat dissipation limit theory and evolution of life histories in endotherms—time to dispose of the disposable soma theory? Integrative and comparative biology 50:793–807.
- Speakman, J. R., E. Król, and M. S. Johnson (2004). The Functional Significance of Individual Variation in Basal Metabolic Rate. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 77:900– 915.
- Stager, M., H. S. Pollock, P. M. Benham, N. D. Sly, J. D. Brawn, and Z. A. Cheviron (2016). Disentangling environmental drivers of metabolic flexibility in birds: the importance of temperature extremes versus temperature variability. Ecography 39:787–795.
- Stephens, P. A., L. R. Mason, R. E. Green, R. D. Gregory, J. R. Sauer, J. Alison, A. Aunins, L. Brotons, S. H. Butchart, and T. Campedelli (2016). Consistent response of bird populations to climate change on two continents. Science 352:84–87.
- Stralberg, D., D. Jongsomjit, C. A. Howell, M. A. Snyder, J. D. Alexander, J. A. Wiens, and T. L. Root (2009). Re-shuffling of species with climate disruption: a no-analog future for California birds? PloS one 4:e6825.
- Strauss, W. M., R. S. Hetem, D. Mitchell, S. K. Maloney, L. C. R. Meyer, and A. Fuller (2016). Three African antelope species with varying water dependencies exhibit similar selective brain cooling. Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology 186:527–540.
- Sugimoto, N., K. Matsuzaki, H. Ishibashi, M. Tanaka, T. Sawaki, Y. Fujita, T. Kawanami, Y. Masaki, T. Okazaki, J. Sekine, S. Koizumi, et al. (2013). Upregulation of aquaporin expression in the salivary glands of heat-acclimated rats. Scientific Reports 3:1763.
- Swanson, D. L. (2010). Seasonal Metabolic Variation in Birds: Functional and Mechanistic Correlates. In Current Ornithology, Vol 17 (C. F. Thompson, Editor). Springer, New York, pp. 75–129.
- Swanson, D. L., and T. Garland (2009). The evolution of high summit metabolism and cold tolerance in birds and its impact on present-day distributions. Evolution 63:184–194.
- Swanson, D. L., and M. O. King (2013a). Short-term captivity influences maximal coldinduced metabolic rates and their repeatability in summer-acclimatized American goldfinches Spinus tristis. Current Zoology 59:439–448.
- Swanson, D. L., and M. O. King (2013b). Short-term captivity influences maximal coldinduced metabolic rates and their repeatability in summer-acclimatized American goldfinches Spinus tristis. Current Zoology 59:439–448.
- Swanson, D. L., and C. Merkord (2013). Seasonal phenotypic flexibility of flight muscle size in small birds: a comparison of ultrasonography and tissue mass measurements. Journal of ornithology 154:119–127.
- Swanson, D. L., N. E. Thomas, E. T. Liknes, and S. J. Cooper (2012). Intraspecific correlations of basal and maximal metabolic rates in birds and the aerobic capacity model for the evolution of endothermy. PLoS One 7:e34271.
- Swanson, D. L., and F. Vézina (2015a). Environmental, ecological and mechanistic drivers of avian seasonal metabolic flexibility in response to cold winters. Journal of Ornithology 156:377–388.
- Swanson, D. L., and F. Vézina (2015b). Environmental, ecological and mechanistic drivers of avian seasonal metabolic flexibility in response to cold winters. Journal of Ornithology 156:377–388.
- Swanson, D., Y. Zhang, and M. King (2014a). Mechanistic drivers of flexibility in summit metabolic rates of small birds. PloS one 9:e101577.
- Swanson, D., Y. Zhang, J.-S. Liu, C. L. Merkord, and M. O. King (2014b). Relative roles of temperature and photoperiod as drivers of metabolic flexibility in dark-eyed juncos.

Journal of Experimental Biology 217:866-875.

- Symonds, M. R., and S. P. Blomberg (2014). A primer on phylogenetic generalised least squares. In Modern phylogenetic comparative methods and their application in evolutionary biology. Springer, pp. 105–130.
- Talbot, W. A., T. J. McWhorter, A. R. Gerson, A. E. McKechnie, and B. O. Wolf (2017). Avian thermoregulation in the heat: evaporative cooling capacity of arid-zone Caprimulgiformes from two continents. Journal of Experimental Biology 220:3488–3498.
- Tattersall, G. J., D. V. Andrade, and A. S. Abe (2009). Heat exchange from the toucan bill reveals a controllable vascular thermal radiator. Science 325:468–470.
- Taylor, C. R. (1970). Dehydration and heat: effects on temperature regulation of East African ungulates. The American Journal of Physiology 219:1136–1139.
- Thompson, L. J., M. Brown, and C. T. Downs (2015). The effects of long-term captivity on the metabolic parameters of a small Afrotropical bird. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 185:343–354.
- Thompson, M. L., S. J. Cunningham, and A. E. McKechnie (2018). Interspecific variation in avian thermoregulatory patterns and heat dissipation behaviours in a subtropical desert. Physiology & Behavior 188:311–323.
- Tidemann, S. C., B. Green, and K. Newgrain (1989). Water turnover and estimated food consumption in 3 species of fairy-wren (*Malurus spp.*). Wildlife Research 16:187–194.
- Tieleman, B. I., H. J. van Noordwijk, and J. B. Williams (2008). Nest site selection in a hot desert: Trade-off between microclimate and predation risk? Condor 110:116–124.
- Tieleman, B. I., J. B. Williams, G. Michaeli, and P. Berry (1999). The role of the nasal passages in the water economy of crested larks and desert larks. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 72:219–226.
- Tieleman, B. I., M. A. Versteegh, B. Helm, and N. J. Dingemanse (2009). Quantitative genetics parameters show partial independent evolutionary potential for body mass and metabolism in stonechats from different populations. Journal of Zoology 279:129– 136.Tieleman, B. I., and J. B. Williams (1999). The role of hyperthermia in the water economy of desert birds. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 72:87–100.
- Tieleman, B. I., and J. B. Williams (2000). The adjustment of avian metabolic rates and water fluxes to desert environments. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 73:461–479.
- Tieleman, B. I., J. B. Williams, and M. E. Buschur (2002). Physiological Adjustments to Arid and Mesic Environments in Larks (Alaudidae). Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 75:305–313.
- Tomlinson, S. (2016). Novel approaches to the calculation and comparison of thermoregulatory parameters: Non-linear regression of metabolic rate and evaporative water loss in Australian rodents. Journal of Thermal Biology 57:54–65.
- Tomlinson, S., S. G. Arnall, A. Munn, S. D. Bradshaw, S. K. Maloney, K. W. Dixon, and R. K. Didham (2014). Applications and implications of ecological energetics. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29:280–290.
- Toms, J. D., and M. L. Lesperance (2003). Piecewise regression: A tool for identifying ecological thresholds. Ecology 84:2034–2041.
- Ton, R., and T. E. Martin (2016). Metabolism correlates with variation in post-natal growth rate among songbirds at three latitudes. Functional Ecology 30:743–748.
- Trevelyan, R., P. H. Harvey, and M. D. Pagel (1990). Metabolic Rates and Life Histories in Birds. Functional Ecology 4:135–141.
- Trost, C. H. (1972). Adaptations of horned larks (Eremophila alpestris) to hot environments. The Auk 89:506–527.
- Ullrich, T. S. (2017) xyscan ver 4.3.0. http://rhig.physics.yale.edu/~ullrich/software/xyscan/

- Valencak, T. G., P. Wright, A. Weir, S. E. Mitchell, L. M. Vaanholt, C. Hambly, E. Król, and J. R. Speakman (2013). Limits to sustained energy intake. XXI. Effect of exposing the mother, but not her pups, to a cold environment during lactation in mice. Journal of Experimental Biology 216:4326–4333.
- Velichko, A. K., E. N. Markova, N. V. Petrova, S. V. Razin, and O. L. Kantidze (2013). Mechanisms of heat shock response in mammals. Cellular and molecular life sciences 70:4229–4241.
- van de Ven, T. M. F. N., N. Mzilikazi, and A. E. McKechnie (2013). Seasonal metabolic variation in two populations of an Afrotropical Euplectid bird. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 86:19–26.
- van de Ven, T. M. F. N., R. O. Martin, T. J. F. Vink, A. E. McKechnie, and S. J. Cunningham (2016). Regulation of heat exchange across the hornbill beak: Functional similarities with toucans? Plos One 11:e0154768.
- Versteegh, M. A., B. Helm, N. J. Dingemanse, and B. I. Tieleman (2008). Repeatability and individual correlates of basal metabolic rate and total evaporative water loss in birds: a case study in European stonechats. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 150:452–457.
- Versteegh, M. A., I. Schwabl, S. Jaquier, and B. I. Tieleman (2012). Do immunological, endocrine and metabolic traits fall on a single Pace-of-Life axis? Covariation and constraints among physiological systems. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 25:1864–1876.
- Vézina, F., and D. W. Thomas (2000). Social status does not affect resting metabolic rate in wintering dark-eyed junco (Junco hyemalis). Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 73:231–236.
- Warkentin, I. G., and N. H. West (1990). Impact of long-term captivity on basal metabolism in birds. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 96:379–381.
- Weathers, W., and K. Nagy (1980). Simultaneous doubly-labeled water (3HH18O) and timebudget estimates of daily energy expenditure in *Phainopepla nitens*. Auk 97:861–867.
- Webster, M. D., and W. W. Weathers (2000). Seasonal changes in energy and water use by verdins, *Auriparus flaviceps*. The Journal of Experimental Biology 203:3333–3344.
- Weibel, E. R., L. D. Bacigalupe, B. Schmitt, and H. Hoppeler (2004). Allometric scaling of maximal metabolic rate in mammals: muscle aerobic capacity as determinant factor. Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology 140:115–132.
- Welbergen, J. A., S. M. Klose, N. Markus, and P. Eby (2008). Climate change and the effects of temperature extremes on Australian flying-foxes. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 275:419–425.
- West, G. B., J. H. Brown, and B. J. Enquist (1997). A general model for the origin of allometric scaling laws in biology. Science 276:122–126.
- West, G. B., W. H. Woodruff, and J. H. Brown (2002). Allometric scaling of metabolic rate from molecules and mitochondria to cells and mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99:2473–2478.
- White, C. R. (2011). Allometric estimation of metabolic rates in animals. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 158:346–357.
- White, C. R., T. M. Blackburn, G. R. Martin, and P. J. Butler (2007). Basal metabolic rate of birds is associated with habitat temperature and precipitation, not primary productivity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 274:287–293.
- White, C. R., P. Cassey, and T. M. Blackburn (2007). Allometric exponents do not support a universal metabolic allometry. Ecology 88:315–323.
- White, C. R., P. B. Frappell, and S. L. Chown (2012). An information-theoretic approach to

evaluating the size and temperature dependence of metabolic rate. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 279:3616–3621.

- White, C. R., S. J. Portugal, G. R. Martin, and P. J. Butler (2006a). Respirometry: anhydrous drierite equilibrates with carbon dioxide and increases washout times. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 79:977–980.
- White, C. R., S. J. Portugal, G. R. Martin, and P. J. Butler (2006b). Respirometry: anhydrous drierite equilibrates with carbon dioxide and increases washout times. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 79:977–980.
- White, C. R., J. S. Terblanche, A. P. Kabat, T. M. Blackburn, S. L. Chown, and P. J. Butler (2008). Allometric scaling of maximum metabolic rate: the influence of temperature. Functional Ecology 22:616–623.
- White, C. R., T. M. Blackburn, and R. S. Seymour (2009). Phylogenetically informed analysis of the allometry of mammalian basal metabolic rate supports neither geometric nor quarter-power scaling. Evolution 63:2658–2667.
- White, C. R., and R. S. Seymour (2003). Mammalian basal metabolic rate is proportional to body mass<sup>2/3</sup>. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100:4046–4049.
- Whitfield, M. C., B. Smit, A. E. McKechnie, and B. O. Wolf (2015). Avian thermoregulation in the heat: scaling of heat tolerance and evaporative cooling capacity in three southern African arid-zone passerines. Journal of Experimental Biology 218:1705–1714.
- Wiens, J. J., D. D. Ackerly, A. P. Allen, B. L. Anacker, L. B. Buckley, H. V. Cornell, E. I. Damschen, T. Jonathan Davies, J.-A. Grytnes, and S. P. Harrison (2010). Niche conservatism as an emerging principle in ecology and conservation biology. Ecology letters 13:1310–1324.
- Wiersma, P., A. Muñoz-Garcia, A. Walker, and J. B. Williams (2007). Tropical birds have a slow pace of life. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104:9340–9345.
- Wiersma, P., B. Nowak, and J. B. Williams (2012). Small organ size contributes to the slow pace of life in tropical birds. Journal of Experimental Biology 215:1662–1669.
- Williams, J., and K. Nagy (1984). Daily energy expenditure of savannah sparrows comparison of time-energy budget and doubly-labeled water estimates. Auk 101:221–229.
- Williams, J. B. (1996). A phylogenetic perspective of evaporative water loss in birds. Auk 113:457–472.
- Williams, J. B., and B. I. Tieleman (2000). Flexibility in basal metabolic rate and evaporative water loss among hoopoe larks exposed to different environmental temperatures. The Journal of Experimental Biology 203:3153–3159.
- Williams, J. B., and B. I. Tieleman (2002). Ecological and evolutionary physiology of desert birds: A progress report. Integrative and Comparative Biology 42:68–75.
- Williams, J. B., and B. I. Tieleman (2005). Physiological adaptation in desert birds. Bioscience 55:416–425.
- Wilson, A.-L., M. Brown, and C. T. Downs (2011). Seasonal variation in metabolic rate of a medium-sized frugivore, the Knysna turaco (*Tauraco corythaix*). Journal of Thermal Biology 36:167–172.
- Withers, P. C., C. E. Cooper, and A. N. Larcombe (2006). Environmental correlates of physiological variables in marsupials. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 79:437– 453.
- Withers, P. C., and C. E. Cooper (2014). Physiological regulation of evaporative water loss in endotherms: is the little red kaluta (*Dasykaluta rosamondae*) an exception or the rule? Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 281:20140149.
- Wolf, B. O., B. H. Coe, A. R. Gerson, and A. E. McKechnie (2017). Comment on an analysis

of endotherm thermal tolerances: systematic errors in data compilation undermine its credibility. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 284:20162523.

- Wolf, B., and G. Walsberg (1996). Respiratory and cutaneous evaporative water loss at high environmental temperatures in a small bird. Journal of Experimental Biology 199:451–457.
- Wone, B. W., P. Madsen, E. R. Donovan, M. K. Labocha, M. W. Sears, C. J. Downs, D. A. Sorensen, and J. P. Hayes (2015). A strong response to selection on mass-independent maximal metabolic rate without a correlated response in basal metabolic rate. Heredity 114:419–427.
- Xia, S.-S., A.-W. Yu, L.-D. Zhao, H.-Y. Zhang, W.-H. Zheng, and J.-S. Liu (2013). Metabolic thermogenesis and evaporative water loss in the Hwamei Garrulax canorus. Journal of Thermal Biology 38:576–581.
- Xiao, X., E. P. White, M. B. Hooten, and S. L. Durham (2011). On the use of log-transformation vs. nonlinear regression for analyzing biological power laws. Ecology 92:1887–1894.
- Xie, S., L. M. Romero, Z. W. Htut, and T. J. McWhorter (2017). Stress Responses to Heat Exposure in Three Species of Australian Desert Birds. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 90:348–358.
- Zang, Z., G. Shen, G. Ren, C. Wang, C. Feng, W. Xu, Z. Xie, Q. Chen, X. Yang, and J. Li (2017). Thermal habitat of giant panda has shrunk by climate warming over the past half century. Biological Conservation 211:125–133.
- Zheng, W.-H., M. Li, J.-S. Liu, S.-L. Shao, and X.-J. Xu (2014). Seasonal variation of metabolic thermogenesis in Eurasian tree sparrows (Passer montanus) over a latitudinal gradient. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 87:704–718.
- Zheng, W.-H., L. Lin, J.-S. Liu, H. Pan, M.-T. Cao, and Y.-L. Hu (2013). Physiological and biochemical thermoregulatory responses of Chinese bulbuls Pycnonotus sinensis to warm temperature: Phenotypic flexibility in a small passerine. Journal of Thermal Biology 38:240–246.
- Zhou, L.-M., S.-S. Xia, Q. Chen, R.-M. Wang, W.-H. Zheng, and J.-S. Liu (2016). Phenotypic flexibility of thermogenesis in the Hwamei (Garrulax canorus): responses to cold acclimation. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 310:R330–R336.
- Zhou, W. T., M. Fujita, and S. Yamamoto (1999). Thermoregulatory responses and blood viscosity in dehydrated heat-exposed broilers (Gallus domesticus). Journal of Thermal Biology 24:185–192.
- Zub, K., Q. E. Fletcher, P. A. Szafranska, and M. Konarzewski (2013). Male Weasels Decrease Activity and Energy Expenditure in Response to High Ambient Temperatures. Plos One 8:e72646.
- Zuckerberg, B., A. M. Woods, and W. F. Porter (2009). Poleward shifts in breeding bird distributions in New York State. Global Change Biology 15:1866–1883.